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H I G H L I G H T S 

Sales agreement with FibraHotel for $2,892 

million pesos, keeping the operation of the 

Hotel Fiesta Americana Condesa Cancun.

Contribution of $1,052 million pesos at the 

end of 2018, corresponding to 12.5% of the 

Tulkal Tourist Development Trust at the 

Mayan Riviera. 

20-year renewal of the Live Aqua Beach 

Resort Cancun Hotel leasing agreement; 

remodeling of its rooms, public areas and 

restaurants -ending in early 2019.
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F I N A N C I A L

R E S U L T S

$7,910 

m i l l i o n  p e s o s  T o t a l  I n c o m e

Our finances are healthy: in 2018 total income was $7,910 million pesos 

with an EBITDA (NIIF) of $1,272 million pesos, which added to the 

sale of the Fiesta Americana Condesa Cancun, closed at $2,425 million 

pesos.

From the proceeds of the sale of the Fiesta Americana Condesa Cancun 

Hotel (FACC) -a net amount of $2,004 million pesos- we have invested 

$1,489 million in projects; some of the main ones are the following: 

• The Tulkal Tourist Development in the Mayan Riviera:  
Construction of this development has started. The company will 

operate two hotels with a total of up to 855 keys. Posadas con-

tributed $1,052 million pesos at the end of 2018 equal to 12.5% of 

the trust.

• Live Aqua Beach Resort Cancun Hotel:  

Successful remodeling of rooms, public areas and restaurants 

ended in early 2019 with an investment of $435 million pesos, of 

which Posadas invested $276 million and the rest, the lessors.

 

In addition, the company is considering the following investment projects 

still in the definition stage:

• Inventory of the Live Aqua Residence Club (LARC):  

Forty-five room project in San Miguel de Allende for an estimat-

ed investment of $216 million. 

• Reforma Corridor:  

Real estate investment project for 616 rooms linked to the Fiesta 

Americana Reforma Hotel. 

On the other hand, net profits in 2018 were for $929 million pesos, in-

cluding the sale of the Fiesta Americana Cancun Hotel registered in the 

first Quarter of the year.

Cash balance as of December 31, 2018 was $2,734 million (equal to USD 

$139 million at an exchange rate of $19.6829), and total company assets 

were $17,170 million pesos (USD $872 million). 

The leverage ratio at the end of 2018 was 2.1, while net interest coverage 

was 5.0x, and average life of total company debt was 3.6 years.

Regarding operational result of the hotels, average rates increased by 

1.7% and occupation decreased by 1.2 percentage points (pp), resulting 

in an effective rate (Revenue per available room) similar to that of the 

previous year.

In the City Hotel sector -equal to 84% of the total available rooms in 

the system- we registered an effective rate performance higher by 2% 

with respect to the same period of the previous year; beach hotels un-

derwent a lower performance, with a 3.5% decrease in the effective rate.

With the objective of generating efficiency of transaction and group 

control and management, we continued the process of internal streamli-

ning, reducing the number of Grupo Posadas subsidiaries from 136 at 

the end of 2013, to 21. In 2018, we carried out the merger of a Grupo 

Posadas subsidiary, equal to the payroll of hotel committees, assuming 

the total equity and obligations of said society.

Furthermore, we dissolved a foreign subsidiary once the hotel in Laredo, 

Texas was sold.

Concerning our shareholders, their meeting was held on April 12, 2018. 

Among the resolutions passed was the payment of dividends in the 

amount of $200 million pesos.
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*Includes the sale of the Fiesta Americana Condesa Cancun
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2,425*
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2.9x

3.1x

3.0x

2.9x

2.9x

2.9x

2.7x

2.7x

2.8x

2.8x

3.7x

3.7x

3.7x

3.7x
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3.1x

3.4x

1.4x

1.9x

2.0x

2.1x

3.6x

3.6x

3.6x

3.9x
4.8x

4.8x

5.0x

4.7x

2.8x

2.8x
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1T 2018
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3T 2015

4T 2015

1T 2016
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3T 2016

4T 2016

1T 2017

2T 2017
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4T 2017

1T 2015

2T 2015

3T 2015

4T 2015

1T 2016

2T 2016

3T 2016
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2T 2017
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1T 2018
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2T 2018

3T 2018

3T 2017

2T 2017
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4T 2016
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F I R M

S T E P S04
L E T T E R  F R O M  T H E  C E O

Dear Board Members and Shareholders:

In 2018 we continued with the consolidation of our company’s growth and its in-

dustry leadership. Tourism continues to be a strategic factor in Mexico sustaining 

a growth since 2015 higher than that of the economy as a whole. Currently, Mexico is 

ranked 6th in foreign tourist arrivals by the World Tourism Organization.

Hotel occupancy in our country is among the highest in the world. The number of arri-

vals keeps increasing year after year with 39 million visitors at the end of 2017 and 27.7 

million in the first eight months of 2018. 

Despite the fact that travel warnings for Cancun and Los Cabos issued the previous 

year were removed at the beginning of 2018, the arrival of international groups of the 

resort segment was affected throughout the year. 

Since the US market is the main contributor of visitors to our country, our platform for 

international promotion, La Colección, has become the permanent campaign tool of 

our resorts at the main destinations.

With a total investment of $445 million pesos, the Live Aqua Beach Resort Cancun 

Hotel underwent a total remodeling of its rooms, public areas and restaurants, ending 

successfully early this year.

P R O F I T A B L E  G R O W T H
Featuring the opening of the Live Aqua San Miguel de Allende and the Fiesta Ameri-

cana Mexico Satelite, in 2018 we opened 16 hotels with a total of 2,221 rooms.

With these openings we closed the year with 175 hotels in more than 60 destinations 

with more than 27,400 rooms. In addition, we closed 22 long-term hotel agreements 

with 3,162 rooms.

 

With these openings, we now have 49 agreements for approximately 9,300 rooms 

representing an increase of 34% of our total current inventory.

For 2019, our development plan considers 24 openings that will feature the Gran Fiesta 

Americana Oaxaca, Fiesta Americana San Luis Potosi and the Fiesta Americana Via-

ducto Churubusco.

Moreover, we consolidated our position as operators and owners of 12.5% of the Tulkal 

hotel project in the Mayan Riviera. Two hotels are being built at this development: a 

Fiesta Americana with 515 keys and a Live Aqua with 340 keys with a scheduled ope-

ning in the first quarter of 2021.

M E M O R A B L E  E X P E R I E N C E S
Permanently seeking to satisfy the needs of our guests and to interpret market tends, we 

continuously reinvent ourselves through the creation of new brands aimed at new seg-

ments and the consolidation of those already in existence in order to increase the attrac-

tiveness of our portfolio for investors.

Today, our portfolio has 9 brands in the hotel market and 4 in the Club Vacacional market.

We implemented the Net Promoter Score (NPS) culture as an essential indicator for me-

asuring hotel performance on the basis of guest assessment and our customer-centered 

philosophy.

M A R K E T I N G  A N D  S A L E S
In 2018, once again we achieved a record number of reservations processed through 

our distribution suite. 

• We exceeded 3.4 million reservations (one reservation every 9 seconds)

• Our own channels (including groups) contributed 69% of the reservations.

• Our web channel grew by 17% with respect to the previous year, contributing 

with 7% of the reservations.

• Our voice channel remained as the most important contributor with 20% of the 

reservations.

• We reached 2 million followers in all our social networks. 

We keep improving our platforms in order to sustain our competitive edge, improve 

booking cost and ensure ever greater economies of scale.

L O Y A L T Y  P R O G R A M S  A N D  C A M P A I G N S
Now in its ninth year, the Viaja por Todo México campaign accounted for 20% of sales 

growth with respect to 2017.

February, 2019.
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The Fiesta Rewards program was present in the media (television, cinema, digital, and 

magazines among others) through a communication campaign which contributed 21% 

of the occupancy in the system. Throughout the year 124,200 new members joined the 

program, which reached 145,000 active members. 

The Santander Fiesta Rewards card increased its membership by 35%, issuing 47,552 

new cards for a total of 145,000 active cards.

V A C A T I O N  P R O P E R T I E S
The Fiesta Americana Vacation Club closed the year with 30,000 members, a 4.2% 

growth with respect to the year before. 

Net membership sales, including Kivac -the 42,765-member traveler community that 

generates 195,040 rooms/night- and Re_Set, generated $3,068 million pesos, 15% 

more with respect to 2017. Total income from vacation products reached $4,188 million 

pesos, a growth of 14% with respect to the previous year.

Our vacation club is the second generator of rooms/night for Grupo Posadas after 

Expedia.  

F I N A N C I A L  R E S U L T S
This year we had an EBITDA of $2,425 million pesos that included the sale of the Fiesta 

Americana Condesa Cancun hotel. This -our main source of cash- allowed us to:

• Invest over $671 million pesos in the maintenance and remodeling of our hotels.

• Invest $804 million pesos in the Tulkal project (Mayan Riviera) and other 

projects.

• Fulfill our financial and fiscal commitments.

• Maintain a cash balance of $2,734 million pesos at the end of the fiscal year, 

considering 57% (US$78 mm) in USD.

• Achieve a consolidated statement of comprehensive income of $964 million 

pesos and a consolidated net income (net controlling interest income) of 

$929 million.

The above strengthened our balance, allowing us to close the year with a 2.1 net leverage 

ratio (Net Debt/EBITDA) and a 5.0 interest coverage ratio.

The detailed 2018 financial situation is presented in the Financial Statements of this 

report and shows the duly explained and itemized results of the society for the year. In 

addition, it presents changes in the financial situation in the year and shows the chan-

ges in the items that were part of corporate patrimony in 2018. Necessary notes which 

complete and clarify the information in the financial statements are also detailed in the 

Independent Auditor Report and in the consolidated financial statements of Grupo Po-

sadas  S.A.B. de C.V. y Subsidiarias for 2016, 2017 y 2018, issued by Galaz, Yamazaki, Ruiz 

Urquiza S.C. (Deloitte).

O U R  P E O P L E  M A K E  T H E  D I F F E R E N C E
The pride of being Posadas is more present than ever.

We kept our Great Place to Work certification and climbed four places in its ranking 

to 4th, great news that we have shared and which encourage us to keep promoting 

practices that will have a positive impact in the quality of life of our associates.

Today, we are over 18,300 Posadas associates, sharing the philosophy of creating ex-

periences that will turn moments into memorable stories.

The strength of Posadas lies in the joint efforts of its management team, its associates, 

its guests and its partners. Together we have been able to build the company we now 

have; to all of you, my utmost appreciation and gratitude.

J o s é  C a r l o s  A z c á r r a g a
C E O
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O U R  B U S I N E S S

M O D E L05
Our sustainable business model generates profits for our shareholders 

and investors and inspires the trust of our clients, associates and 

society in general.  

DELUXE UPPER MIDDLE ECONOMY TRAVEL 
MEMBERSHIP 

PROGRAMS
8 2 75

4
1

1

5

4

5

13 16

48
2

6

656 members

42,700 travelers

CLASSIC LUXURY DISCOVER

BUSINESS CLASS

PRACTICITY

URBAN (G) LOCAL

LIFESTYLE RESORTS

FAMILY

Grand Fiesta 
Americana  
Hotels & Resorts

The Explorean 
by Fiesta 
Americana

Fiesta Inn 
Fiesta Inn Loft 
Fiesta Inn 
Express

Live Aqua Resorts 
& Residence Club

Latin American

opening 

opening 

openings

openings

openings

Fiesta Americana 
Hotels and 
Resorts

Gamma

one

Live Aqua 
Residence Club

Fiesta Americana 
Vacation Club

Re_Set

Kívac
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ALSO KNOWN AS PUEBLA DE LOS 

ANGELES—AS THE LEGEND SAYS IT 

WAS TRACED BY ANGELS— IT STANDS 

FOR ITS COLONIAL ARCHITECTURE, 

GASTRONOMY, CULTURE, AND 

MODERNITY. ITS MOLE POBLANO AND 

THE CHILES EN NOGADA, EXAMPLES OF 

THE MEXICAN CUISINE; ITS BEAUTIFUL 

CHINA POBLANA COSTUME, THE EL 

ROSARIO CHAPEL –EIGHT WONDER OF 

THE WORLD– AND THE PALAFOXIANA 

LIBRARY –MEMORY OF THE WORLD– 

TOOK THE CITY TO BE DECLARED 

CULTURAL HERITAGE OF THE HUMANITY 

BY THE UNESCO.

Capilla del Rosario

PUEBLA, PUEBLA
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OPENING OF LIVE AQUA 

SAN MIGUEL DE ALLENDE 

AND FIESTA AMERICANA 

SATELITE, MEXICO

P R O P E R T I E S06
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W I D E N I N G

O U R  F O O T P R I N T

+ 670 
m i l l i o n  i n v e s t e d  i n  r e m o d e l i n g  o f  h o t e l  r o o m s , 

p u b l i c  a r e a s  a n d  r e s t a u r a n t s

R E M O D E L I N G
Resorts

L i v e  A q u a  B e a c h  R e s o r t  C a n c u n

Remodeling of public areas and the Aqua Club of the hotel. In addition, 

we obtained a 20-year contract renewal.

F i e s t a  A m e r i c a n a  C o n d e s a  C a n c u n

Public areas remodeling, complement to the one carried out in 2016 and 

2017. 

City Hotels

F i e s t a  A m e r i c a n a  M e r i d a

Continuing with our remodeling plan for the Fiesta Americana Merida Ho-

tel this year we remodeled its public areas and consumption centers, as in 

previous years efforts were focused in halls and rooms.

F i e s t a  A m e r i c a n a  G a l i n d o

Similarly, in 2018 we remodeled 168 rooms and public areas of our Fiesta 

Americana Galindo.o.

N E W  P R O J E C T S
T u l k a l  T o u r i s t  D e v e l o p m e n t

Among our main projects in 2018, is the start of work of the Tulkal project 

on the Mayan Riviera, which includes the Fiesta Americana and Live Aqua 

hotels with 515 and 340 rooms respectively. Conclusion of the project is 

scheduled for the end of 2020 or early 2021.

D E V E L O P M E N T

In 2018 we opened 16 new hotels adding 2,253 new rooms to those 

already available (9% of total room inventory) allowing us to expand 

our brand presence into diverse market segments. 

F i e s t a  I n n

• Fiesta Inn Ciudad del Carmen Laguna de 

Terminos. 

• Fiesta Inn Morelia Altozano. 

• Fiesta Inn Express Queretaro Constituyentes.

• Fiesta Inn Aguascalientes Patio.

• Fiesta Inn Tuxtla Fashion Mall.

O P E N I N G 

O F  1 6  N E W 

H O T E L S
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G a m m a

• Gamma Guadalajara Centro Historico.

• Gamma Boca del Rio Oliba.

• Gamma Tampico.

• Gamma Ciudad Juarez.

o n e 

With a renovated image to increase offer, we opened the fo-

llowing hotels:

• one Puebla Angelópolis Periferico.

• one Monterrey Tecnologico. 

• one Ciudad de Mexico La Raza.

• one Acapulco Diamante.

• one Tijuana Otay.
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Moreover, we opened the Fiesta Americana Mexico Satelite, with 223 

rooms, and the Live Aqua San Miguel de Allende, a 153-room project with 

an investment of $216 million pesos.

In addition, we continued our development plan for the construction of 

27 new hotels and 49 new project agreements for 9,300 rooms. Opening 

is scheduled for the first quarter of 2019 with an estimated start of ope-

rations before the first quarter of 2022. This will represent an increase in 

room offer of 34% in the next four years.

Furthermore, we entered into 22 new long-term hotel contracts provi-

ding 3,162 rooms; among them the Live Aqua in Puerto Vallarta, three 

new Fiesta Americana city hotels (Guadalajara Acueducto, Culiacan and 

Puebla Centro), IOH in Merida (first hotel of the new brand, and nine Gam-

ma hotel contracts. Actions like these strengthen the confidence of our 

investors.
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CHIAPAS IS ONE OF THE MEXICAN 

REPUBLIC STATES WITH THE 

LARGEST AMOUNT OF FLORA AND 

FAUNA SPECIES, BESIDES HAVING 

MOUNTAINS RIVERS, VOLCANOS, 

LAGOONS, COASTS AND SAVANNAH. 

IN ITS TERRITORY WE CAN FIND, 

ARCHEOLOGICAL SITES LIKE 

PALENQUE—ONE OF THE MOST 

IMPORTANT  SETTLEMENTS OF THE 

MAYAN CULTURE—, COLONIALS 

TOWNS AS SAN CRISTOBAL DE LAS 

CASAS AND CHIAPA DE CORZO AS 

WELL NATURAL RESERVES LIKE THE 

SUMIDERO CANYON.

Palenque

CHIAPAS

2 9
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H O T E L E R A 
P O S A D A S07
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R E D E F I N I N G

T H E  C O U R S E

W e  h a v e  175 h o t e l s ,  m o r e  t h a n  27,400 

r o o m s  a n d  o v e r  60 d e s t i n a t i o n s

In 2018, the average rate increased by 1.7%, while occupation showed a de-

crease of 1.2 percentage points (“pp”), resulting in an effective rate (Revenue 

per available room) similar to that of the previous year. 

In the urban hotel segment, which accounts for 84% of the rooms in the sys-

tem, we registered an increase in the effective rate of 2% with respect to the 

same period in the previous year. Beach hotels were less dynamic, registering 

a decrease in effective rate of 3.5%.

We are focused on making guest experience a factor that differentiates us 

from our competitors in every category and market niche of the cities in which 

we are present.

  

Throughout 2018 our task has been to increase the number of our hotels and 

make them more competitive and profitable, as well as to strengthen our pro-

grams in order to achieve higher additional earnings. Thus, we have positioned 

ourselves among the hotels with the best rates in Mexico.

At Posadas we seek to improve competitiveness and the experience of our 

clients; thus, we seek to boost not only our business, but also food and beve-

rage culture.

Through diverse alliances with top chefs, we have realized important projects, 

among them: the Proyecto del Azul with chef Ricardo Muñoz Zurita, who has 

developed the menus for thirteen of our hotels; the opening of Eduardo Pala-

zuelo’s restaurant Zibu in the AQUA San Miguel de Allende hotel, and last, but 

not least, the important participation of Gerardo Rivera, our Executive Chef, 

and the alliance with Starbucks for the Fiesta Inn hotels. L
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Moreover, together with Universidad Posadas and through the 

Lobster Ink learning platform, we have developed the Culinary 

Processes program whereby in 2018 we carried out the re-cer-

tification of 34 of our chefs for the Fiesta Americana and Fies-

ta Inn hotels. The objective of the program is to ensure quality 

standard compliance and follow-up, food safety and hygiene, 

compliance with corporate guidelines, and create pride in the 

work place.

Once the program ends, our chefs receive a certification re-

cognized by the Culinary Institute of America.

94
O F  O U R  H O T E L S  H AV E  B E E N 

A W A R D E D  T H E  T R I P  A D V I S O R 

C E R T I F I C A T E  O F  E X C E L L E N C E ;  T W O 

O F  T H E M  A R E  R A N K E D  I N  T R AV E L E R S 

C H O I C E ’ S  T O P  2 5  I N  M E X I C O
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Our approach goes beyond only food; in order to gene-

rate a better experience for our guests, we have prioriti-

zed aspects most enjoyed by our guests in their rooms: 

upgrading of bed and bathrooms, and entertainment in-

side and outside the rooms.

In 2018 we adopted an important hotel operating plat-

form called Alice which allows hotel personnel to interact 

with guests in order to provide the best possible service. 

Through this platform all guest requests can be contro-

lled and followed up in a more efficient way. 

In addition, the platform allows registering the tasks as-

signed by Corporate Management to the general mana-

gers and monitoring inter-departmental requests. This 

permits having a real-time control board of all hotels, 

which in turn translates into a great improvement in the 

stabilization of the satisfaction index. We are currently 

the only hotel company that has this tool. 

Furthermore, we have focused on streamlining expenses, 

reviewing marketing costs, reducing energy consump-

tion and seeking alliances to reduce the impact of elec-

tricity costs. Since 2017 we have been working on con-

tracting alternate or cogeneration electricity, which as of 

September, 2019 will produce savings for the company 

of up to 30%. 

In addition, we have focused on the leisure and busi-

ness segments of the commercial area by building an 

occupancy data base and prioritizing our own channels 

to achieve updated content relevant to every customer 

journey.

2
0

1
8

 
A

N
N

U
A

L
 

R
E

P
O

R
T

3 5



O U R

P E O P L E

Talent Development

One of Posada’s most important strategic approaches is developing the talent of our 

associates.

More than 360 managers have been integrated into the Talent Management process in 

order to measure and improve their leadership skills. 

Through Universidad Posadas we provide continuous development programs. Our Lan-

guage School started its first English program; the Services School reached 16,000 asso-

ciates; the Business and Leadership School reached over 7,700.

Moreover, through Universidad Posadas we also implement PCI Certification at all of our 

hotels, thus ensuring that our credit card transactions comply with all security standards 

and that personal and financial data of our clients and guests is handled under the highest 

security standards. 

Posadas Careers

We continued to consolidate our Posadas Careers platform; this has allowed to centralize 

the job opportunities of all our work centers and has enabled us to reach more people in 

all the cities where we are present.

Using our social networks strategy for generating traffic, we have continued to focus on 

promoting and disseminating our culture and the Posadas lifestyle. This has been rewarded 

with the smiles of our associates.

Our people grow; Posadas grows.

With our accelerated growth plan, the principal challenge of Human Capital in 2018 was 

identifying more than 90 associates to fill the Executive Committee positions created by 

the opening of all our hotels, as well as for the training program for Business Unit and Va-

cation Property Managers. 

Therefore, we continuously provide new growth opportunities, promoting internal talent 

and taking firm steps in our expansion process. 
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W E  K N O W  H O W  T O 

L I S T E N  O U R  G U E S T S

Q U A L I T Y  S Y S T E M S

LINC

There is no doubt that this was a great year for the LINC quality 

system. We transformed the way in which we listen to our guests 

consolidating our customer-centered philosophy, that places clients at 

the heart of our strategies and decision-making, and achieving excellent 

results in our satisfaction indexes.

To do this, we started work following the NPS metric (a client loyalty 

indicator) focusing on identifying the moments of the survey that have 

the most impact on our clients. With the information obtained we have 

worked on strengths and opportunity areas of the experience we provi-

de for our guests.

The information of our quality surveys not only confirms that we are on 

the right track to obtaining ever better results; it has also enabled us to 

improve our knowledge of the guest profile of each of our brands and 

their travel motivation. In addition, we are now able to provide corporate 

areas with information for focusing on goals and initiatives. 

In 2018, our guest response ratio was 14%, 8 points above the desirable 

minimum for loyalty and satisfaction surveys of our brands. We received 

192,815 surveys and analyzed 243,095 comments.

 

Concerning client loyalty, we achieved a NPS (Net Promoter Score) of 

60 percentage points, 10 points above the mean of the industry (50%). 

Regarding the satisfaction index, 6 out of every 10 guests are satisfied 

with the service provided by our hotels.

On the other hand, 6 out of every 10 guests congratulated us in their 

comments, a sign that we have their confidence and that they will keep 

responding to our surveys. This will allow us to listen to our guests, find 

out their needs and take the proper steps to offer a better service at our 

hotels. 

N P S  O F  6 0 

P E R C E N TA G E 

P O I N T S

6  O F  E V E R Y  1 0 

G U E S T S  A R E 

S AT I S F I E D  W I T H 

O U R  S E R V I C E

7 5 %  P O S I T I V E 

R E V I E W S

9 4  H O T E L S 

AWA R D E D  T R I P 

A D V I S O R ’ S 

E X C E L L E N C E 

C E R T I F I C AT E

All of our general managers review guest feedback in order to understand 

their requests and needs; follow up is 95% of the feedback. This complies 

with our standards for covering the needs and preferences of our guests.

All change and innovation in standards is supported by the voice of our 

guests received through the Ask Now LINC tool. In 2018, we reviewed 37 

pilots to ensure that the initiatives being implemented are really what our 

guests need and require, and to provide a competitive experience. 

We have established two main guidelines for listening to our guests:

• An intangible focus on operational and service processes

• A tangible focus on analyzing the status of our properties 

prioritizing investment on key areas or moments in order to 

improve the experience and fulfilling brand promise. 

This year we worked on 141 studies and analyses that helped to improve 

continuous transformation of the experience and ensuring adherence to 

our brands, processes and standards.

Similarly, we successfully closed the new concept for our one brand, for 

which we achieved an increase in the NPS and satisfaction with physical 

conditions of 20 points with respect to the previous product. 

This has allowed to identify three factors which are key for our guests: 

staff courtesy, staff efficiency, and room neatness and cleanliness; we 

have turned these into the three main strengths of all our brands. 

Trip Advisor

The main strengths that characterize Trip Advisor and that we offer our 

guests are service, location and cleanliness of the premises.

 In 2019 we will continue to listen to our guests focusing on innovation, in-

vestment and operational strategies in order to ensure the best experience. 

Prometeo

The second most important feature in a brand study is the product. One 

of our main objectives is ensuring that the premises are maintained, that 

they increase their value and that they fulfill the needs of our guests. We 

also ensure that standards are complied with in order to fulfill brand pro-

mise of every one of our hotels. 
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At Posadas, the safety of our staff is of fundamental importance; this why the 

Zero Tolerance program has become critical to the group. Today, our guests can 

be more confident that they are safer at our properties than in their own homes. 

In 2018, eight in ten of our hotels complied with the goal for human safety: Zero 

Tolerance. This is one of the most important indicators in our annual goal of 95%.  

The final evaluation of Prometeo Físico 2018 increased by 2.5% with respect to 

2017, showing that we have properties which are safer, in better condition and 

which comply with our standards to guarantee owner investment. 

The Prometeo Brand

In 2018 we placed an emphasis on topics dealing with icons and standards that comprise hotel genetics 

and which are identified with Brand, Product and Standards, and Quality areas.

This was a defining year in the implementation of every one of the standards with which we guarantee 

brand promise to our guests; we also increased the number of our promoters.

Nine in ten of our hotels comply with brand standards, an increase of 2 points with respect to 2017. 

Support and Follow-up Systems

P a y m e n t  P r o c e s s i n g

In 2018, as part of the PCI (Payment Card Industry) certification, we implemen-

ted the Smart Payment process at 100% of our hotels complying with the requi-

rements of the ABM (Asociación de Bancos de México). The implementation of 

this platform standardizes the functionality and operational processes related to 

processing, storage, and transmission of the bank card information of our guests 

in order to reduce risks and ensure its secure handling; it also complies with the 

security requirements set by VISA, MASTER CARD and AMERICAN EXPRESS.
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MEXICO CITY, IS CONSIDERED 

ONE OF THE BEST DESTINATIONS 

IN THE WORLD. ITS HISTORICAL 

DOWNTOWN, DECLARED HERITAGE 

OF THE HUMANITY BY THE 

UNESCO; ITS MULTIPLE MUSEUMS;  

THE COLONIAL AND MODERN 

ARCHITECTURE; ITS SUBURBS FULL 

OF WONDERFUL SPOTS AND THE 

EXCELLENT GASTRONOMIC OFFER 

GIVE TESTIMONY OF ITS GREAT 

HISTORY, CULTURE AND TRADITIONS.

Angel de la Independencia

CIUDAD DE MEXICO

4 3
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C R E A T I N G

E X P E R I E N C E S

LIVE AQUA 

With a total of 793 rooms, our Live Aqua hotels remain as the brand 

of preference for guests who have the demanding needs and tastes 

of modern travelers and seek a relaxing atmosphere with fine design, 

art and sophistication for the stimulation of the senses.

All our 5 hotels, Live Aqua Beach Resort Cancun, Live Aqua Boutique 

Resort Playa del Carmen, Live Aqua Urban Resort Mexico, Live Aqua 

Urban Resort Monterrey, and our most recent one Live Aqua Urban 

Resort San Miguel de Allende adapt to the diverse life styles of guests 

who want experience the pleasure of being and be seen.

In 2018, we continued to consolidate and expand our brand impro-

ving the experience at every one of our hotels and positioning them 

as the most exclusive at every destination.

 

In November 2018, we successfully opened the Live Aqua San Miguel 

de Allende as the best hotel in the city. Additionally, we remodeled the 

Live Aqua Beach Resort Cancun, completely changing its room con-

cept to a contemporary style, and modified its consumption centers.
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Grand Fiesta Americana

Grand Fiesta Americana is the Premium hotel 

chain designed for those seeking an exclusive 

and customized hotel experience with a sophis-

ticated atmosphere of classic luxury and outs-

tanding service. A solid brand, our 8 hotels have 

managed to fascinate travelers who look for 

prestige, success, power and virtuousness.

Grand Fiesta Americana is on the right track: 

2,226 rooms and an exclusive concept that 

offers the highest quality and service standards 

in the world.

In the second semester of 2019, we are looking 

forward to the successful opening of the Grand 

Fiesta Americana Oaxaca, a new icon of the city.

G
ra

n
d

 F
ie

st
a

 A
m

e
ri

c
a

n
a

 P
u

e
rt

o
 V

a
lla

rt
a

 A
ll 

In
c

lu
si

v
e

W E  C O N T I N U E D  T O 

C O N S O L I D A T E  O U R 

B R A N D S  I M P R O V I N G  T H E 

E X P E R I E N C E  O F  O U R 

G U E S T S .

2
0

1
8

 
A

N
N

U
A

L
 

R
E

P
O

R
T

4 9



Fiesta Americana

Fiesta Americana offers an unforgettable stay at the best destinations 

in Mexico. 

Our 17 hotels offer Mexican charm and hospitality, providing modern spa-

ces and warm, friendly service always available in a cozy atmosphere.

In 2018 two of our iconic hotels were fully remodeled: Americana Condesa 

Cancun All Inclusive, a hotel recognized by national and international trave-

lers which now offers its guests modern spaces without losing its Contem-

porary Mexican touch; and Fiesta Americana Hacienda Galindo Resort & 

Spa, a wonderful, totally renovated Hacienda to which we have added spa-

ces for relaxation and enjoyment such as its new Spa, restaurants and bars.

Our recent openings reflect the confidence of our investors and the lea-

dership of our brand. Our inventory of hotels is complemented by the 

following: Fiesta Americana Mexico Satelite, in Mexico City, Fiesta Ame-

O U R  R E C E N T  O P E N I N G S  R E F L E C T  T H E 

C O N F I D E N C E  O F  O U R  I N V E S T O R S  A N D 

T H E  L E A D E R S H I P  O F  O U R  B R A N D

ricana Punta Varadero All Inclusive and Fiesta Americana Holguin Costa 

Verde All Inclusive; with these last two openings in Cuba, our brand ente-

red the international market.

The evolution of Fiesta Americana can also be seen in the opening of 

new properties. We have set out a plan to open 8 hotels at strategic des-

tinations in Mexico by 2020: Mexico City, Culiacan, Huatulco, Guadalajara, 

Puebla, San Luis Potosi and the Mayan Riviera: these will be adding to 

our current 3,753 rooms. 

Today, Fiesta Americana represents evolution, modernity and growth: 

we are on the right track to reaching more destinations to provide our 

guests unforgettable moments.
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The Explorean 

Our Explorean brand offers its guests the experience of dis-

covering magical destinations and the enjoyment of unique 

activities and moments of contemplation and disengagement; 

travelers will discover new places of unimaginable attraction.

In Mexico alone, we have identified 28 potential places where 

our brand could be present fulfilling its promise of discovery.

The Explorean is a brand with great potential for growth that 

will captivate our guests.  

W E  A R E  O N  T H E  R I G H T 

T R A C K  T O  R E A C H  M O R E 

D E S T I N A T I O N S .
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Fiesta Inn 

Fiesta Inn is the leading Business Class hotel in attention and hospitality 

for business traveler seeking success and relaxation: it offers open, multi-

functional facilities in an inspiring and warm atmosphere.

The mission of Fiesta Inn is to look after business travelers and provide 

them with the best hotel experience.

In 2018 we opened four new destinations that expand and consolidate 

our presence in Mexico. 

•Fiesta Inn Ciudad del Carmen Laguna de Terminos

•Fiesta Inn Express Querétaro Constituyentes

•Fiesta Inn Morelia Altozano

•Fiesta Inn Tuxtla Fashion Mall

It should be mentioned that in 2018 we opened our new Fiesta Inn Ex-

press Queretaro Constituyentes, the first of the brand focused on pro-

viding individual business travelers with the Business Class experience. 

2019

• Fiesta Inn Aguascalientes Patio. 

• Fiesta Inn Express Monterrey Centro.

• Fiesta Inn Express Puebla Explanada.

• Fiesta Inn Galerías Celaya.

• Fiesta Inn Guadalajara Aeropuerto.

• Fiesta Inn Guadalajara Periférico Poniente.

• Fiesta Inn Parque Puebla.

2020

• Fiesta Inn Express Culiacan Explanada.

• Fiesta Inn Express & Loft Aguascalientes Explanada.

• Fiesta Inn Mazatlan Zona Dorada.

• Fiesta Inn Tijuana Zona Hipodromo.
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GAMMA

Gamma is our collection of four and five-star hotels with which we surpassed our 2018 goal 

of 21 hotels (system and signed contracts) and closed the year with a total of 25 units.

Gamma hotels are the only ones operating under a franchise model and are indepen-

dently-operated. Through this model, we convert hotels already in operation into our 

brand allowing them access to our sales and promotion channels without losing their 

own personality, style, design or décor.

In 2018 we signed 9 contracts for the opening in 2019 of the following hotels which 

will open in 2019: Rincon de Santiago, Monterrey, Orizaba, Interlomas, Mexico City, 

Mazatlan, Coyuca de Benitez, Guerrero, Morelia Vista Bella, Isla Mujeres, Cancun Cen-

tro and Playa del Carmen. This will increase the brand to 25 hotels and expand our 

presence in the market.

Since the launch of the Gamma brand four years ago, we have opened 16 hotels re-

presenting over 2,200 rooms; this makes Gamma our fastest-growing brand.

Moreover, we have 40 properties undergoing conversion negotiations, all located in 

strategic cities throughout the country.

In 2018, we continued to promote the brand through the #EstoEsAquí digital media 

campaign; its goal was to make Gamma become a recognized brand among business 

and leisure travelers in Mexico.

The campaign turned out a 120% growth in our social networks, reaching more than 3 

million people and creating brand recognition by 2 of every 10 current travelers in Mexico.

At the end of 2018, less than four years from the launch of the brand, we had 16 Gam-

ma hotels in the system -10 franchised and 6 operated- for a growth in fees generated 

by franchised hotels of over 120% with respect to 2017.

Adding the 16 hotels in the system to the current 9 contracts, we now have a total of 

25 hotels; our forecast is for at least 8 new contracts in 2019, thus surpassing our goal 

of 70 hotels by 2025.
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one

Our new one brand renewed its concept and 

launched it into the market. In 2018 we com-

pleted the update of the brand fully based on 

consumer comments. In addition, we signed the 

first two brand-franchising contracts. 

Also in 2018, we received the conclusions of the 

research we conducted the previous year on 

every space, service and strategy of the brand. 

We listened to travelers and answered their 

needs for a complete renovation of the brand.

The growth experienced by one has been cons-

tant and fast in recent years. In 2018 we opened 

one Ciudad de Mexico La Raza, in addition to 4 

more of the new concept: one Puebla Angelo-

polis Periferico, one Monterrey Tecnologico, one 

Acapulco Diamante and one Tijuana Otay.

Our plan for growth will continue to be part of our objectives in 2019 with 

the scheduled opening of 4 new properties:  Tuxtla Gutierrez and Tapa-

chula Chiapas, Chihuahua, Chihuahua and Hermosillo, Sonora.

 

In addition to the new concept which is boosting satisfaction and brand 

loyalty, in 2018 we launched the “¿Por qué viajar? Porque con one puedo” 

advertising campaign which allowed us to connect with our guests.

This campaign is aimed at travelers who seek to expand their horizons, 

know new places, have fun, and attend concerts, sports and social events. 

We are now closer to them through friendly and cordial communication.

W E  L I S T E N  O U R 

T R AV E L E R S  F I N D I N G  T H E 

W AY  T O  A N S W E R  T H E I R 

N E E D S  T O  R E A C H  T H E 
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SAN MIGUEL DE ALLENDE, ONE OF 

THE PREFERRED DESTINATIONS FOR 

ART LOVERS, WAS APPOINTED BY 

“TRAVEL + LEISURE” MAGAZINE IN 2017, 

AS THE BEST CITY IN THE WORLD, 

FOR ITS QUALITY SERVICE, KINDNESS, 

GASTRONOMY AMONG OTHERS. WITH 

THE TITLE OF VILLA PROTECTORA DE 

SAN MIGUEL Y SANTUARIO DE JESUS 

NAZARENO DE ATOTONILCO, IT HAS 

BEEN APPOINTED BY THE UNESCO AS 

A HERITAGE OF HUMANITY, DUE TO 

ITS CULTURAL AND ARCHITECTURAL 

CONTRIBUTION TO THE MEXICAN 

BAROQUE AND ITS IMPORTANCE IN THE 

MEXICAN INDEPENDENCE WAR. 

Parroquia de San Miguel Arcangel

SAN MIGUEL DE ALLENDE

6 1
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P R O M O T I O N

V I A J A

S a l e s  f o r  $877 m i l l i o n 

G r o w t h  o f  23%  v s .  2 0 1 7 200%  

M E M B E R S H I P 

G R O W T H  O F  T H E 

S A N T A N D E R /

F I E S T A  R E W A R D S 

P R O G R A M

145,000  
A C T I V E  C A R D S

131,000 

P R I Z E

270,800 
F I E S T A  R E W A R D S 

A C T I V E  M E M B E R S

Our promotion platform for Live Aqua, Grand Fiesta Americana, Fiesta 

Americana, Fiesta Inn, Gamma and one, continued growing in 2018 

thanks to a constant communication through digital and printed media. 

In 2018, we had sales in the amount of $877 million pesos, 23% higher than 

in 2017, due to our new corporate promotions: opportunity sales, Viaja’s 

Buenas Noches, 25% off in food and beverages, 40% Fiesta Rewards bo-

nus points, and other tactical promotions aimed at specific segments and 

different needs of our guests.

Similarly, our VIAJA por Todo Mexico campaign achieved excellent results 

and continues to be the most important one in the Mexican tourism sector.

• 1 million gift certificates/455,626 for an additional night without cost  

•534,229 food and beverage discount certificates 

•45 Aeroméxico round trip certificates  

•100 Fifty thousand-point Fiesta Rewards certificates

Furthermore, we raffled off 12 Audi cars among more than 60 thousand par-

ticipants, generating 25,718 room nights and a revenue of $18.2 million pesos.

With the participation –once again- of Ana Brenda Contreras as 

campaign ambassador, we achieved more than 15 million spot vi-

sits in our social networks through the implementation of a robust 

nationwide media plan.

As part of the effort to disseminate our promotions and brands, 

we shared specific offers with our commercial partners: Santan-

der, American Express and Aeroméxico.

L O Y A L T Y  P R O G R A M S
Fiesta Rewards

In 2018, over 70,000 members participated in the program thanks 

to the “El pase completo” Fiesta Rewards sweepstakes. 

Our loyalty program was present in different communication me-

dia such as television, movie minutes, billboards, digital channels, 

magazines and internal media.

In addition, we awarded 218,000 tickets for attending the 2019 

Super Bowl, achieving recruitment of new members and boosting 

their loyalty through our program and brands.

We achieved an increase of 35% in revenues from the Santander 

Fiesta Rewards card and placed 47,552 new cards for a total of 

145,000 valid cards. In the year, the program contributed with 21% 

of member room occupancy; we affiliated 124,200 new members 

for a total of 270,800 active members, and redeemed 130,000 

prizes of which 85% were for hotel nights.
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D I S T R I B U T I O N

A N D  C R M

+ 3.4 m i l l i o n  r e s e r v a t i o n s  t h r o u g h  o u r  

D i s t r i b u t i o n  S y s t e m  

1  e v e r y  9  s e c o n d s

2 m i l l i o n  f a n s  i n  o u r  s o c i a l  n e t w o r k s

For second year in a row, we set a record in the number of reservations 

we process through our distribution suite with a total of 3.4 million 

annual reservations, equal to a reservation every nine seconds. 

In addition, in partnership with our revenue management team we achie-

ved a 5% growth in the income generated by reservations and maintained 

a healthy mix of 60% own-channel reservations and 31% external. 

In order to maintain our competitive advantage, improve reservation cost, 

and ensure higher scale profitability, we have continued to improve our 

platforms. 

Similarly, in 2018 we maintained our global distribution cost below USD9$ 

per reservation, including commission.

We also continued to position and grow our own sites, increasing income 

by 17%, and managing to increase the participation of this channel with 

respect to external channels. 

We continued to streamline our processes, tools and security data. Konexo 

managed to obtain PCI (Payment Card Industry), Data Security Standard 

(DSS), and Customer Experience Management (COPC) recertification, as 

well as the Modelo Global de Calidad for Customer Interaction (MGCIC/INAI), 

all world-class top certifications awarded to contact centers. This guarantees 

secure management of all bank and personal information of our clients.

Furthermore, in 2018 we managed to close several ad-

ditional external campaigns that led to a global contact 

center occupancy of over 89%. In 2019 we expect have 

full occupancy of contact centers. In 2018 we were re-

cognized by the Instituto Mexicano de Teleservicios in 

its annual award ceremony with first, second and third 

place for best talent in the industry. 

In order to guarantee accurate follow up and centrali-

zation of vista 360 customer cases, we continued the 

digital transformation of our CRM department with the 

implementation of projects which have allowed us to 

reinforce client experience (CX). We have also included 

automated service tools that guarantee accurate follow 

up and centralization of cases.

In 2018 we finalized our Master Data Management 

(MDM) system which has provided us with a unique, 

centralized and secure knowledge base of every client 

that consumes our products and services. With this tool 

we will be driving customization and recognition pro-

jects throughout its lifecycle in 2019.

Finally, we continued with our Digital Command Center 

as one Grupo Posadas’ competitive advantages. Using 

this model we have managed to concentrate real-time 

monitoring of all the conversations we have with our 

clients in social networks and digital media, allowing us 

to identify and resolve service, information, crisis mana-

gement and sales opportunity cases.
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THE CITY OF MONTERREY, IS ONE OF 

THE MOST IMPORTANT INDUSTRIAL 

AND BUSINESS CENTERS IN OUR 

COUNTRY. FRAMED BY THE CERRO 

DE LA SILLA –ICON OF THE CITY 

AND A SYMBOL FOR ITS RESIDENTS– 

IT HAS A GREAT CULTURE AND 

HISTORY AS WELL A COSMOPOLITAN 

ENVIRONMENT. WITH A MIX OF 

TRADITION, NATURAL LANDSCAPES, 

HISTORICAL MONUMENTS AND 

GASTRONOMY, IT OFFERS VISITORS A 

VARIED RANGE OF SITES THAT DESERVE 

TO BE VISITED:  THE MACROPLAZA, 

SANTA LUCIA WALK AND WITHOUT 

ANYDOUBT LA FUNDIDORA PARK.

Paseo Santa Lucia

MONTERREY

6 7

2
0

1
8

 
A

N
N

U
A

L
 

R
E

P
O

R
T



P R O VA C09

2
0

1
8

 
A

N
N

U
A

L
 

R
E

P
O

R
T

6 9



In an environment in which digital economy turns around complete industries, in-

novation and consolidation of strategic alliances becomes essential for market 

permanence; it has been through these that the vacation property industry has sus-

tained continuous growth.

In Latin America, Mexico continued to lead; of the 473,000 weeks sold in the re-

gion, approximately 250,000 were sold in Mexico. This represents $4,700 MDD in 

sales, of which the Cancun corridor is the main sales point with a 60% share, also 

being the number one destination in the country with an offer of 38,779 rooms only 

in timeshare.

And of course, PROVAC POSADAS has an important participation in these figu-

res; we have 24 points of sale in Mexico that offer our products and making us an 

industry leader.

P R O V A C  i n  2 0 1 8

The year was a successful one for the Company; we closed with more than 74,000 

members and travelers.

For fifth consecutive year we had historic sales: $155 MUSD, exceeding 

our own goal by 18% with respect to 2017 and making 2018 one of the 

best years in the history of PROVAC.

Moreover, we applied our PROVAC evolution model to different levels of 

the organization: pre-arrival, security, bell boys, reception, sales/hospita-

lity stands, and concierge. 

This was due to several strategic activities: 

1) 6X4 Program. We created six marketing programs for selling 

4 products: Kivac, Live Aqua, Re_set, and Fiesta Americana 

Vacations Club. 

2)	We created a commercial certification area and a training 

program for qualified PROVAC executives; this increased 

business unit sales by 35% and will generate 354 million 

pesos in 2019. 

3)	Marketing of experiences through which we offer our guests 

tailor-made, unique moments; this was reflected in a 3% 

increase in in-house penetration. 

4)	Product: We improved the FADC member satisfaction index 

(24 points recommendation; 14 satisfaction, 12 repurchase)

In addition to the above, we carried out different actions that allowed us 

to achieve and exceed our goals; one of those actions, the renovation 

of the websites of all our products, increased the website reservation 

process by 30 points and communication by 14.  

We improved our Customer Attention Call Center ending the year with 

350,000 received calls, 150,000 reservations, 280 million reserved points, 

USD10 million incremental sales and 98% comprehensive attention.  

From the maintenance fees of our members, we invested $172 million pe-

sos on the remodeling of different properties: Fiesta Americana Los Ca-

bos All Inclusive Golf & Spa ($67 Million pesos), Fiesta Americana Cancun 

Villas ($ 35 Million pesos), Fiesta Americana Cozumel All Inclusive ($12 

Million pesos), and Fiesta Americana Acapulco Villas ($58 Million pesos).

7 4 , 0 0 0 

M E M B E R S

H I S TO R I C  S A L E S 

$ 1 5 5  M U S D 

1 8 %  I N C R E A S E 

V S .  2 0 1 7
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O U R

P R O D U C T S

+386 r o o m  n i g h t s  u n d e r  t h e  P o s a d a s  s y s t e m

L I V E  A Q U A  R E S I D E N C E  C L U B 

$ 5 5 1 M D P  n e t  s a l e s

+ 4 8 %  g r o w t h

8 7 2  a c t i v e  m e m b e r s

 

In 2018, we added to our inventory four exclusive Live Aqua residences in Hua-

tulco Celeste and launched the liveaquearesidenceclub.com website, through 

which our members can make reservations for hotel, tours and activities, gene-

rate hotel bills, and browse the members-only event schedule.

F I E S T A  A M E R I C A N A  V A C A T I O N  C L U B

$ 1 , 2 7 9 M D P  n e t s  s a l e s

+ 1 6 %  g r o w t h

2 9 , 9 0 0  a c t i v e  m e m b e r s

 Fiesta American Vacation Club has been in the market for 20 years, an indica-

tion of the consolidation of our product and the satisfaction of our clients.  In 

only three years we have managed to increase our indexes of recommenda-

tion, satisfaction and repurchase. 

K Í V A C

$ 1 , 1 2 2 M D P  n e t s  s a l e s

+ 4 %  g r o w t h

4 2 , 7 0 0  t r a v e l e r s

Our pre-payment plan continues to grow and consolidate sales. We currently 

have over 42,700 travelers in the program, which speaks of its excellent accep-

tance.

We created Kivac Xpand -the perfect complement for the Kivac point packa-

ges- in order to encourage its use by travelers; 365 days to more than 10,000 

international destinations, with no restrictions. 

R E _ S E T

$ 5 9 M D P  n e t s  s a l e s

6 5 6  a c t i v e  m e m b e r s

Re_set is the discount plan we created to respond to the need of engaging new 

consumers through the existing digital and technological platforms. With a di-

fferent vision, it represents a more profitable business scheme for the Company.
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T H E  P R I D E  O F  

B E I N G  P O S A D A S 

P O S A D A S  P E O P L E

R a n k e d  4th b y  G r e a t  
P l a c e  t o  W o r k

+19,000 a s s o c i a t e s

Posadas continues to be a great place to work. In 2018, we sustained grow-

th amid a solid culture we are proud to belong to. For the Company and 

its associates, working at Posadas is a two-way commitment. 

We design simple, objective and effective action plans in order to achieve 

changes significant to the work environment of work teams.

Today we are more than 19,000 associates who share the philosophy of creating 

experiences that will turn moments into stories to be remembered. Thus, we will 

continue to listen to our people in order to understand their views concerning 

subjects they deem relevant or those that create opportunities for them.

A place for all

We have always believed that diversity gives us the opportunity to share talents 

and provides different views which will lead to better results. 

This year, the Secretaría del Trabajo y Previsión Social recognized us with the 

Gilberto Rincón Gallardo Inclusive Company Distinction for the diversity and in-

clusion practices of our work centers. The distinction has encouraged us to keep 

building a people-centered company. 

Posadas DNA

In 2018, we focused on promoting competences that embody the Posadas DNA. 

Along its development cycle, we organized a series of conferences to com-

municate to associates the principles and concepts that govern those com-

petences, mainly through experiences and testimonies from some of the 

Company’s leaders.

On this occasion we took the conferences to cities like Cancun, Monterrey, 

Queretaro, Mexico City and Morelia, places where we have hotels or points of 

sale, or like in Morelia, a Call Center and timeshare services. This allowed the 

attendance of 1,000 of our associates, as well as the online broadcast of the 

conferences, impacting all of our other work centers.

Moreover, we published the proceedings of the conferences as a reference for 

new associates or teams seeking to reinforce competences.

Posadas Ambassadors

In 2018 we achieved an important expansion of one of our main cultural pro-

grams, selecting and certifying more than four hundred Posadas Ambassadors, 

who are in charge of promoting and driving actions to consolidate Company 

culture and pride of belonging. Thus, we have managed to develop responsible, 

culture-aware leaders for our hotels, points of sale, Call Center and offices.

As a result, our development, talent and training efforts were rewarded with a 

fourth place in the Great Place to Work ranking and first place in Pride Dimen-

sion ranking, in which we moved up four places with respect to 2017.

Our goal will continue to be to spur and promote practices that will have a po-

sitive impact on the quality of life of our associates.

W E  P R O M O T E 

P R A C T I C E S  T H AT 

W I L L  H AV E  A 

P O S I T I V E  I M PA C T 

O N  T H E  Q U A L I T Y 

O F  L I F E  O F  O U R 

A S S O C I AT E S .
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QUERETARO OFFERS VISITORS, A 

GREAT VARIETY OF CULTURE, NATURE 

AND ARCHITECTURAL OPTIONS, 

AMONG WHICH ARE ITS BEAUTIFUL 

AQUEDUCT WITH 74 ARCS -SYMBOL 

OF THE CITY-, LA PEÑA DE BERNAL - 

THE THIRD LARGEST MONOLITH IN 

THE WORLD- AND THE BEAUTIFUL 

FRANCISCAN MISSIONS OF THE SIERRA 

GORDA WITH ITS FACADES WORKED BY 

INDIANS AND MISSIONARIES, EXAMPLE 

OF THE MEXICAN BAROQUE ART FROM 

THE XVII AND XVIII CENTURIES, AND 

WHICH HAVE BEEN NAMED WORLD 

HERITAGE BY THE UNESCO.

Acueducto de Queretaro

QUERÉTARO
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S O C I A L  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y 

A N D  S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y11
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W E  S E E K  T O  R A I S E  AWA R E N E S S 

I N  T H E  T O U R I S M  S E C T O R ,  O F  T H E 

N E E D  T O  A D O P T  A  S U S TA I N A B L E 

D E V E L O P M E N T  W O R K  E T H O S

W E  A R E  T H E 

T O U R I S M  C O M P A N Y 

W I T H  T H E  G R E AT E S T 

N U M B E R  O F  H O T E L S 

H O L D I N G  T H E 

“ C A L I D A D  A M B I E N TA L 

T U R Í S T I C A”  ( T O U R I S M 

E N V I R O N M E N TA L 

Q U A L I T Y ) 

C E R T I F I C AT I O N  F R O M 

T H E  P R O C U R A D U R Í A 

F E D E R A L  D E 

P R O T E C C I Ó N 

A L  A M B I E N T E 

( P R O F E P A ) ; 

At Posadas we believe in the importance of the envi-

ronment, the transcendence of the activities we carry 

out in the communities in which we operate, and in the 

conservation of natural resources. Therefore, we have im-

plemented a sustainability strategy that we uphold year 

after year.

Moreover, we seek to raise awareness in the tourism sec-

tor of the need to adopt a sustainable development work 

ethos, since the fundamental concept of tourism projects 

–considering integration and conservation of ecosystems, 

safekeeping of the culture and way of life of communities- 

contributes to the selfsame profitability of the investments.

Thus, we have integrated efforts in all of our business units 

and have aligned social, economic and environmental prac-

tices through our Sustainability Committee, whose principal 

objective is to foster and put into practice actions for im-

pressing a true sustainability culture on both, the business 

and the stakeholders we interact with (associates, suppliers, 

clients, shareholders, investors and partners).

A  P O S A D A S  

C O M M I T M E N T 

S o c i a l l y  R e s p o n s i b l e  C o m p a n y  D i s t i n c t i o n  f o r 

6 t h  c o n s e c u t i v e  y e a r

Integration and benefit are two lines of work that translate into 

initiatives that are essential to the Posadas business strategy.

We integrate our associates, suppliers, guests, community and 

authorities in benefit of current and future generations. To do 

this, we resort to our social responsibility practices in the econo-

mic, social and environmental fields as well to those in the perso-

nal and professional ones.

In Posadas we uphold a commitment with environmental care: 

we are the tourism company with the greatest number of hotels 

holding the “Calidad Ambiental Turística” (Tourism Environmen-

tal Quality) certification from the Procuraduría Federal de Pro-

tección al Ambiente (PROFEPA); 12 of our hotels have been re-

cognized with the ‘S’ Distinction which guarantees sustainability; 

and all of our hotels bear the Green Key international distinction, 

the leading sustainability standard in the international hospitality 

industry. This distinction guarantees compliance with the inter-

national standards established by the Foundation for Environ-

mental Education (FEE).

Social Commitment

In the social sphere, we continue with our commitment to the 

implementation of the National Conduct Code for the Protec-

tion of Children and Teenagers in the Travel and Tourism Sector.
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Community Outreach

Through the Posadas Foundation, we contribute to the de-

velopment of Mexico developing initiatives to improve the 

quality of life of people in vulnerable conditions, focusing our 

efforts on health, education, housing construction, and disas-

ter relief.

Health

In 2018, the Posadas Foundation supported 1,322 persons 

through the following initiatives:

• Financing of major and urgent surgery procedures or 

treatment of persons lacking opportune health care.

• 1,500 hours of annual therapy for children suffering 

from illness or disability.  

• Vision studies and affordable eyeglasses through the 

Para Verte Mejor program.

• Identification of hearing problems, hearing studies 

and aids, and medical counseling through the Hoy 

Escucho Mejor program.

Education

We granted comprehensive educational support to 667 chil-

dren and young people from low-income families, of which 

two managed to obtain a Bachelor’s Degree. In addition, 

we granted scholarships to 106 adults wishing to finish high 

school through our Otra Oportunidad para Estudiar program.

Disaster Relief

In the wake of the heavy rains and hurricanes that hit Michoa-

can, the State of Mexico, and Mexico City in 2018, the Posadas 

Foundation supported 10 affected families of diverse com-

munities by providing them with construction material and 

household goods.

Volunteering 

For the second time our Volunteer Program had a nationwide 

scope. This time it was attended by 3,377 volunteers (53% more 

than in 2017) in benefit of 14,000 persons in vulnerable situation.

Furthermore, we visited foster homes, hospitals, schools, nur-

sing homes, food banks and diverse communities.

The following are some of the volunteer activities we carried out 

in 2018:

• Deep cleaning, exterior and interior painting, facility 

improvements.

• Repair of household appliances (refrigerators, microwave 

ovens, stoves, blenders) at foster or nursing homes. 

• Supply of food and clothing

• Soil preparation and turf-laying in exteriors. 

• Painting, cooking, and reading classes for children with 

disabilities.

In 2018, in partnership with the Grupo Mexico Foundation, we once 

again participated in the reforestation program at Huixquilucan, State 

of Mexico, planting this time 20,000 trees.

Furthermore, we promoted the participation of our guests, who pro-

vided their generous support through cash donations to the Posadas 

Foundation contributing to a better future for Mexican families.

Other programs

In 2018 we implemented other initiatives focused on improving our 

natural and social environment; some of these are:

• Cumpliendo Sueños, a program through which we took three 

children with grave illnesses to see the ocean for the first time. 

In addition, we have benefitted around 4 million persons through our su-

pport for other thirty foundations, with among other actions, the donation 

of 644 room nights and 2,900 linens no longer used in hotels of the Group.

Alliances for Mexico

In order to make a greater impact on the development of the country, 

the Posadas Foundation continues to be part of the Red de Funda-

ciones Empresariales and of AMEXCID’s Alianza por la Sostenibilidad.

Environmental Care and Preservation

Grupo Posadas works under a sustainable tourism model with which 

we have positioned ourselves as leaders in environmental matters.

We have construction and operations manuals that determine the 

use of materials, finishings, equipment and high-tech facilities, as 

well as administrative and operational procedures that help to mi-

nimize impact on the natural and social environment and allow us 

to advance in protecting and caring for the environment. 

3,377 
V O L U N T E E R S

14,000 
B E N E F I C I A R I E S
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Through a cooperation agreement with the Procuraduría Federal de Protección al 

Ambiente (PROFEPA), we continue the certification of our hotels for Tourism Envi-

ronmental Quality, which requires the implementation of policies, regulations, and fe-

deral, state, and local laws, as well as the implementation of diverse means of process 

control and evaluation. Among these are keeping a record of fossil fuel, electricity, 

gas and water consumption, and keeping an inventory of greenhouse gas emissions 

in the Registro Nacional de Emisiones (National Emissions Registry). 

Green Hotels

In 2018 we continued to work on initiatives for our Green hotels; some of these are: 

• Physical plant adjustments.

• Standard-compliant signaling and training, SEMARNAT certified collection 

and disposal of temporary storage of organic and inorganic waste.  

• Temporary storage of chemical and solvent products, standard-compliant 

signaling and training

• Collection and disposal of vegetable oil used in the making of biodiesel.

• Water-saving devices for showers and sinks; installation of low flush toilets 

and waterless urinals.

• LED lighting in public and service areas.

• Air conditioning that uses ecological refrigerants.

• High-efficiency heaters with low NOx emissions.

We have received the following recognitions for our Green 

initiatives:

 

• 38 of our hotels have the PROFEPA certification for 

Tourism Environmental Quality 

• All of our hotels have the Green Key certification

• 31 of our hotels have the “Hotel Hidro Sustentable” 

distinction given by the Helvex Foundation

• Environmental Leadership for Competitiveness from 

SEMARNAT

• 12 of our hotels have the “S” Distinction awarded by 

the PROFEPA and the Secretaría de Turismo

• Our fire alarm and detection system has been certified 

by the same company that carries out its maintenance. 

• Internal Public Safety Program, certification issued by 

Public Safety.
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12 C O R P O R A T E
G O V E R N A N C E
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J O S É  C A R L O S 

A Z C Á R R A G A  A N D R A D E

C E O 

PA B L O  A Z C Á R R A G A  A N D R A D E

C H A I R M A N  O F  T H E  B O A R D

J O S É  C A R L O S  A Z C Á R R A G A  A N D R A D E

C E O

F R A N C I S C O  J AV I E R  B A R R E R A  S E G U R A

V I C E P R E S I D E N T  -  F R A N C H I S E

E N R I Q U E  C A L D E R Ó N  F E R N Á N D E Z

V I C E P R E S I D E N T  –  H O T E L  O P E R A T I O N S

A R T U R O  M A R T Í N E Z  D E L  C A M P O  S A U C E D O

V I C E P R E S I D E N T  -  F I N A N C E

J O R G E  C A R VA L L O  C O U T T O L E N C

V I C E P R E S I D E N T  -  D E V E L O P M E N T

G E R A R D O  A L O N S O  R I O S E C O  O R I H U E L A

V I C E P R E S I D E N T  –  V A C A T I O N  P R O P E R T I E S
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S
I N D E P E N D E N T  B O A R D  M E M B E R S

P a b l o  A z c á r r a g a  A n d r a d e

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

José Carlos Azcárraga Andrade

Enrique Azcárraga Andrade

Fernando Chico Pardo

Juan Servitje Curzio

Silvia Sisset de Guadalupe Harp Calderoni

Carlos Levy Covarrubias

Jorge Mario Soto y Gálvez (finado)

Benjamín Clariond Reyes Retana

Luis Alfonso Nicolau Gutiérrez

B O A R D  S E C R E T A R I E S 

Olga Patricia Gutiérrez Nevárez

SECRETARY

Víctor Ángel Bohon Devars

PRO-SECRETARY

A L T E R N A T E S

Charbel Christian Francisco Harp Calderoni

Alfredo Loera Fernández

A U D I T  C O M M I T T E E

JORGE MARIO SOTO Y GÁLVEZ (FINADO)

CHAIRMAN

Luis Alfonso Nicolau Gutiérrez

Benjamín Clariond Reyes Retana

C O R P O R A T E  P R A C T I C E S  C O M M I T T E E

Luis Alfonso Nicolau Gutiérrez

CHAIRMAN

Benjamín Clariond Reyes Retana

Jorge Mario Soto y Gálvez (finado)

F I N A N C E  A N D  P L A N N I N G  

E X E C U T I V E  C O M M I T T E E
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 

of Grupo Posadas, S.A.B. de C.V.

I N D E P E N D E N T  
A U D I T O R S ’  
R E P O R T

OPINION

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Grupo Posa-

das, S.A.B. de C.V. and Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of 

financial position as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the consolidated statements 

of comprehensive income (loss), the consolidated statements of changes in stockhold-

ers’ equity and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, 

and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the consolidated financial position of Grupo Posadas, S.A.B. de C.V 

and Subsidiaries (the Entity) as of December 31 2018, 2017 and 2016, and their consoli-

dated financial performance and their consolidated cash flows, for the years then ended 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board.

BASIS FOR OPINION 

We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA). 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Independent  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 

of our report. We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the International 

Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 

(IESBA Code) together with the Ethics Code issued by the Mexican Institute of Public 

Accountants (IMCP Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in ac-

cordance with the IESBA Code and IMCP Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

KEY AUDIT MATTERS 

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, have been of 

most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year 2018. 

These matters were selected from those communicated with the Entity’s Management 

and the Audit Committee, but do not pretend to represent all the matters discussed with 

them. Our audit procedures related to these matters were addressed in the context of 

our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Our opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements is not modified with respect to any of the Key Audit 

Matters described below.

VACATION CLUB REVENUES

Key Audit Matter

Revenues generated from Vacation Club operations represent approximately one third 

of the Entity’s consolidated revenues.

Under International Accounting Standard the Entity recognizes the revenues from the 

Vacation Club operation as follows:

i)	� are Memberships recognized at the time the contract is signed, because the Entity 

believes that when it becomes effective, a use right is granted to the member, 

and the performance obligation is fulfilled, when transferring a right that may be 

enforced before third parties, and when the control over the real properties is 

transferred to the buyers of memberships.

ii)	� Kívac points are recognized once the hospitality service is rendered, plus an esti-

mate of those points that will not be used by the program’s members at maturity. 
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Audit procedures performed

The audit tests applied to revenues generated from these services were significant for 

our audit because the business processes are complex and highly dependent on system 

generated reports, which should be reconciled to the accounting records. As a result, our 

audit procedures included, among others:

i)	� review of the design and implementation and operating effectiveness tests of the 

internal controls and substantive tests of the report issued by the system and sup-

ports the recording of income of the operation of Vacation Club;

ii) 	� documentation review, based on random sampling, of the integrity of the contracts 

signed with customers;

iii) 	� analysis and review of the assumptions and methodologies used by the Entity to 

receive the minimum payments which guarantee that the collection is reasonably 

assured;

iv) 	� review of hotel operation reports which support the amount of the services con-

tracted and collected, recognized as revenues when rendered to the customers, 

with their respective costs and expenses; and

v) 	� review and evaluation of historical information on the amount of services contract-

ed and collected, which have not been used before their expiration.

Our work also included reviewing the adequacy of the Entity’s disclosures on the ac-

counting assumptions and policies for revenue recognition of the Vacation Club business, 

which are included in Note 4t to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

VACATION CLUB RESERVE FOR RETURNS

Key Audit Matter

The amount of this reserve represents approximately 5% of the total current and long–

term Vacation Club notes receivable, which are presented in the consolidated statement 

of financial position.

Given the specific nature of the operation of the Vacation Club business, the Entity has 

implemented a process for the analysis and calculation of the reserve to evaluate and 

determine the amount of this reserve. Therefore, the evaluation of its sufficiency was 

significant for our audit.

As a supplement to this key audit matter, the Entity analyzes transactions to identify 

revenues, which recoverability is uncertain. This implies that the amounts shown as Notes 

Receivable from Vacation Club on the consolidated statement of financial position might 

not be recoverable.

The amount recognized as the reserve is the best estimate on the Vacation Club inven-

tory returns of the members who would not meet their contractual payment obligations, 

for which, the probability of default for all notes receivable is considered, regardless of 

their aging.

In addition to probability, recent collection efforts, communications with the members, 

and experiences of default are taken into account.

Audit procedures performed

We analyzed with the Entity’s Management the methodology used to determine the 

amount of the reserve, its consistent application with previous years and the support for 

the variables used in the calculation model, we discussed it with the Audit Committee 

members and found that the use of the model is appropriate.

Our audit procedures also included, among others:

i)	� tests of the Entity’s controls related to the information used within the model, and 

used to determine the balance of the reserve;

ii)	 analysis of balances related to the sufficiency of the reserve in previous years;

iii)	� review of the classification of the portfolio aging based on payment defaults, and 

the recalculation of the amounts to be reserved based on probability default;

iv) 	� evidence of new operating strategies and those communicated to members in 

order to support the restructuring and recovery of overdue portfolio or about to 

expire; and

v) 	� confirmation that the assumptions used by Management in the calculation and 

determination of the reserve reflect the business strategies aimed to recover the 

Vacation Club inventory due to defaults which have occurred or are expected to be 

incurred by members to pay their debts.

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

Key Audit Matter

As explained in Notes 4q to the consolidated financial statements, the Entity recognizes 

deferred income taxes for all the differences between the carrying values and the tax 

bases of its assets and liabilities, and the benefits of tax loss carryforwards are taken  

into account.

As of December, 31, 2018 the amount of tax loss carryforwards is $5,189,666,000, which 

represents a deferred income tax benefit of $1,556,900,000 and may be applied as long 

as the individual entities which incurred them, generate in the future sufficient taxable 

income before the aforementioned tax losses expire.
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International Accounting Standard 12 Taxes on Income, requires that the carrying value of 

a deferred tax asset be subjected to review and must be reduced when it is considered 

likely that there will not be sufficient taxable income to enable all or part of the asset to 

be recovered. Therefore, as of December 31, 2018, the Entity has not recognized a benefit 

of $43,787,000 for the uncertainty related to the realization of this asset.

Audit procedures performed

A change in assumptions and conditions on the recovery of tax losses might originate 

a material effect in the amount of the deferred income tax benefit recorded in the con-

solidated financial statements. Therefore, the test of the estimate was significant for our 

audit because the evaluation process is complex and is based on assumptions which are 

affected by future expectations from hotel operation results and from proper execution 

of the corporate restructuring.

Our audit procedures included involvement of our tax experts to assess the recognition 

of benefits from tax loss carryforwards, including:

i)	 evaluate and challenge the assumptions and methodologies used by the Entity;

ii)	 analysis of individual entities’ trend of their tax results from previous years;

iii)	� review the financial and tax projections to determine if the generation of taxable 

income in the future will enable the tax losses to be recovered before they expire, 

and

iv)	 review the progress achieved in the corporate restructuring process.

We believe that the Entity’s disclosures in relation to the main captions originating the 

deferred income tax balances are appropriate in Note 16 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE DOCUMENT CONTAINING THE 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information shall include 

the information that will be incorporated in the Annual Report that the Entity is obliged to 

prepare pursuant to Article 33 Fraction I, subsection b) of Title Four, First Chapter of the 

General Provisions Applicable to Issuers and other Participants of the Securities Market in 

Mexico and the Instruction accompanying those provisions (the Provisions). The Annual 

Report is expected to be available for our reading after the date of this audit report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements will not cover the other information 

and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility 

will be to read the Annual Report, when available, and when we do so, to consider wheth-

er the other information contained therein is materially inconsistent with the consolidat-

ed financial statements or with our knowledge obtained during the audit, or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated. When we read the Annual Report we will issue the 

legend stating that we have read the annual report, required in Article 33 Fraction I, sub-

section b) numeral 1.2. of the Provisions. 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED WITH 

GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consol-

idated financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as 

Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In 

preparing the consolidated financial statements, Management is responsible for assess-

ing the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 

related to the Entity’s going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, 

unless Management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has 

no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Entity’s Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting 

process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated fi-

nancial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error, and to issue an audit report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 

a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with ISA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 

arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise our professional judgment and 

maintain an attitude of professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

–	� Identify and assess the risks of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement because of fraud 

is higher than for one resulting from material misstatement because of an error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, Intentional misstate-

ments, or the override of internal control.

–	� Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.

–	� Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies applied and the reasonable-

ness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by Management.

–	� Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis 

of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material un-

certainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 

related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 

are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit ev-

idence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

–	� Evaluate the global presentation, structure and content of the consolidated finan-

cial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 

statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation.

–	� We obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the Entity’s financial 

information and its business activities to express an opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and per-

formance of the group audit. We continue to be solely responsible for our audit 

opinion.

We communicate with Entity’s Management and the Audit Committee regarding, among 

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Entity’s Management and the Audit Committee with a statement that we 

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to com-

municate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 

to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine 

those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements for the year 2018 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 

matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 

the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 

not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Matter

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been translated into English 

for the convenience of readers.

Galaz, Yamazaki, Ruiz Urquiza, S. C.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

C.P.C.  Fernando Loera  Ag ui lar

March 4, 2019



A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

1
8

1 0 5

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S 
O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

GRUPO POSADAS, S.  A.  B.  DE C. V.  AND SUBSIDIARIES

As of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

(In thousands of Mexican pesos)

Assets	 Notes	 	 2018	 	 2017		  2016

Current assets:

	 Cash and cash equivalents	 6	 $	 2,733,898	 $	 1,383,584	 $	 1,320,097

	 Investments in securities	 7		   –		   –		  450,000

	 Accounts and notes receivable – Net	 8		  2,693,663		  2,645,367		  2,661,627

	 Inventories			   23,188		  24,480		  24,507

	 Prepaid expenses			   142,918		  83,196		  51,808

	 Vacation Club inventory 	 9		  144,782		  264,979		  153,277

	 Other current assets			   107,566		  112,998		  63,692

	 Assets classified as held for sale	 2		   –		  1,481,530		  64,531

		  Total current assets			   5,846,015		  5,996,134		  4,789,539

Non–current assets:

	 Property and equipment committed 

	   for sale	 10		  223,117		  307,714		  –

	 Long–term notes receivable	 11		  3,219,164		  2,649,388		  2,121,497

	 Vacation Club inventory 

	   in construction			   –		  104,112		  151,480

	 Property and equipment – Net	 12		  4,936,245		  4,601,178		  6,483,129

	 Prepaid expenses			   24,095		  119,561		  40,521

	 Investment in associates			   1,054,631		  226,129		  1,129

	 Intangible assets and other assets	 13		  721,459		  725,370		  641,184

	 Deferred tax assets	 16		  1,145,555		  1,615,471		  658,518

		  Total non–current assets			   11,324,266		  10,348,923		  10,097,458

Total assets		  $	 17,170,281	 $	 16,345,057	 $	 14,886,997

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity	 Notes		  2018	 	 2017		  2016

Current liabilities:

	 Current portion of long–term debt	 15	 $	 23,531	 $	 11,232	 $	 472

	 Trade accounts payable	 14	 	 427,790		  436,100		  497,753

	 Other liabilities and accrued expenses 		  	 1,171,638		  1,188,671		  988,238

	 Income tax payable	 16	 	 329,286		  321,684		  362,454

	 Other tax payable			   368,332		  294,303		  – 	

	 Deferred income from Vacation Club  		  	 649,622		  508,910		  435,627

	 Current portion of long–term 

	   value–added tax		  	 109,779		  111,899		  134,955

	 Liabilities directly associated with assets 

	   classified as held for sale	 2		  – 		  – 		  7,200

		  Total current liabilities		  	 3,079,978		  2,872,799		  2,426,699

Long–term liabilities:				  

	 Debt	 15		  7,785,839		  7,768,483		  7,871,765

	 Accrued liabilities	 17	 	 359,058		  360,539		  349,898

	 Value–added tax payable 		  	 481,816		  394,074		  318,954

	 Deferred income from Vacation Club 		  	 932,928		  918,687		  840,307

	 Liabilities directly associated with property 

	   and equipment committed for sale	 10				    6,330		  – 	

	 Income tax payable	 16	 	 1,342,863		  1,601,193		  151,097

		  Total long–term liabilities			   10,902,504		  11,049,306		  9,532,021

		  Total liabilities		  	 13,982,482		  13,922,105		  11,958,720

Stockholders’ equity:

	 Contributed capital:

		  Capital stock	 20	 	 495,881		  495,881		  495,881

		  Contributions for future capital increases			   – 		  – 		  704

		  Share repurchase reserve			   16,856		  16,856		  16,856

		  Additional paid–in capital		  	 157,429		  157,429		  157,429

					     670,166		  670,166		  670,870

Earned capital:		

	 Share repurchase reserve			   535,000		  535,000		  535,000

	 Retained earnings		  	 1,713,982		  983,611		  1,467,516

	 Accumulated comprehensive earnings 		  	 83,520		  51,581		  62,945

					     2,332,502		  1,570,192		  2,065,461

		  Total controlling interest		  	 3,002,668		  2,240,358		  2,736,331

Non–controlling interest		  	 185,131	 	 182,594		  191,946

		  Total stockholders’ equity	 		  3,187,799		  2,422,952		  2,928,277

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity	 	 $	 17,170,281	 $	 16,345,057	 $	 14,886,997

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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		  Notes		  2018	 	 2017		  2016

Continuing operations

	 Revenue	 22	 $	 7,910,374	 $	 8,471,990 	 $	 7,734,349

	 Cost of sales	 22	 	 4,977,675		  5,014,507		  4,402,320

	 Gross profit			   2,932,699		  3,457,483 		  3,332,029

	 Administrative expenses	 22	 	 1,151,869		  1,105,068		  982,304

	 Sale and development expenses	 22		  211,992		  272,308		  252,243

	 Depreciation, amortization, real estate leasing,

	   cost of disposal and impairment of assets		  	 937,073		  906,225		  1,040,475

	 Other (revenue) expenses, net	 22		  (1,391,474)		  (47,756)		  2,548 

	 Interest expense			   653,537		  641,173		  643,592

	 Interest income			   (172,765)		  (60,399)		  (46,802)

	 Commissions and financial expenses			   83,516	 	 147,657		  93,474

	 Exchange (gain) loss, net			   (81,335)		  (296,806)		  1,234,444

	 Equity in associate			   (15,000)		  –		  –

					     1,377,413		  2,667,470		  4,202,278

		  Income (loss) before income taxes			   1,555,286		  790,013		  (870,249)

	 Income tax expense (benefit)	 16	 	 591,985		  1,262,607		  (174,349)

		  Income (loss) from continuing 

		    operations			   963,301		  (472,594)		  (695,900)

Discontinued operations

	 Loss from discontinued operations  	 26b		  (31,202)		  –		  (1,279)

		  Consolidated income (loss) for the year			   932,099		  (472,594)		  (697,179)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

	 (Loss) income on exchange differences 

	   from translating foreign operations, 

	   which will be reclassified

	   subsequently to profit or loss 			   (2,478)		  (3,195)		  32,195

	 Remeasurement of defined benefit 

	   obligation, which will not be  

	   reclassified subsequently to profit or loss			   49,167		  (11,670)		  (23,820)

	 Income taxes			   (14,750)		  3,501		  7,146

					     31,939		  (11,364)		  15,521

Consolidated comprehensive income (loss) for the year		 $	 964,038	 $	 (483,958)	 $	 (681,658)

(Continued)

		  Notes		  2018	 	 2017		  2016

Consolidated income (loss) for the year 

  attributable to:	

	 Controlling interest		  $	 928,724	 $	 (483,905)	 $	 (705,819)

	 Non–controlling interest			   3,375		  11,311		  8,640

		  Consolidated income (loss) for the year	 	 $	 932,099	 $	 (472,594)	 $	 (697,179)

Consolidated comprehensive income 

  (loss) for the year attributable to:

	 Controlling interest		  $	 960,663	 $	 (495,269)	 $	 (690,298)

	 Non–controlling interest			   3,375		  11,311		  8,640

		  Consolidated comprehensive

		    income (loss) for the year 		  $	 964,038	 $	 (483,958)	 $	 (681,658)

		

Earnings (loss) per share:

	 From continuing and discontinued 

	   operations – 

	   Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per 

	     common share (in pesos)		  $	 1.87	 $	 (0.98)	 $	 (1.42)

	 From continuing operations – 

	   Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per 

	     common share (in pesos)		  $	 1.94	 $	 (0.98)	 $	 (1.42)

				  

Weighted average number of shares		  	 495,881,988		  495,881,988		  495,881,988

(Concluded)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S 
O F  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E  ( L O S S )

GRUPO POSADAS, S.  A.  B.  DE C. V.  AND SUBSIDIARIES

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

(In thousands of Mexican pesos, except earnings (loss) per share)
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	        Contributed capital	 Earned capital

		  Contributions
		  for future	 Shares	 Additional	 Shares		  Accumulated		  Total
		  capital	 repurchase	 paid–in	 repurchase	 Retained	 comprehensive	 Non–controlling	 stockholders’
	 Capital stock	 increases	 reserve	 capital	 reserve	 earnings	 earnings	 interest	 equity

Beginning balance January 1, 2016	 $	 495,881	 $	 4,828	 $	 16,856	 $	 157,429	 $	 535,556	 $	 2,172,779	 $	 47,424	 $	 196,750	 $	 3,627,503

	 Repurchase of shares		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (556)		  556		  –		  –		  –

	 Partial payment of convertible debt		  –		  (4,124)		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (4,124)

	 Change in the value of non–controlling interest		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (13,444)		  (13,444)

	 Consolidated comprehensive loss		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (705,819)		  15,521		  8,640		  (681,658)

Balance as of December 31, 2016		  495,881		  704		  16,856		  157,429		  535,000		  1,467,516		  62,945		  191,946		  2,928,277

	 Declared dividends to non–controlling interest		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (19,188)		  (19,188)

	 Partial payment of convertible debt		  –		  (704)		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (704)

	 Change in the value of non–controlling interest		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (1,475)		  (1,475)

	 Consolidated comprehensive loss		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (483,905)		  (11,364)		  11,311		  (483,958)

Balance as of December 31, 2017		  495,881		  –		  16,856		  157,429		  535,000		  983,611		  51,581		  182,594		  2,422,952

	 Declared dividends		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (198,353)		  –		  –		  (198,353)

	 Change in the value of non–controlling interest		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (838)		  (838)

	 Consolidated comprehensive income		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  928,724		  31,939		  3,375		  964,038

Balance as of December 31, 2018	 $	 495,881	 $	 –	 $	 16,856	 $	 157,429	 $	 535,000	 $	 1,713,982	 $	 83,520	 $	 185,131	 $	 3,187,799

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S
O F  C H A N G E S  I N  S T O C K H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y

GRUPO POSADAS, S.  A.  B.  DE C. V.  AND SUBSIDIARIES

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

(In thousands of Mexican pesos)
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				    2018	 	 2017		  2016

Cash flows from operating activities:

	 Consolidated income (loss) for the year		  $	 932,099	 $	 (472,594)	 $	 (697,179)

	 Adjustments for:

		  Income tax expense (benefit)		  	 591,985		  1,262,607		  (174,349)

		  Depreciation, amortization, cost of disposal 

		    and asset impairment			   402,097		  430,635		  595,350

		  Amortization of debt issue expenses			   71,616		  72,097		  72,642

		  Equity in associates			   (15,000)		  –		  –

		  Income on sale of strategic fixed assets		  	 (1,345,750)		  (103,017)		  (108,374)

		  (Income) loss on sale of fixed assets			   1,351		  (2,439)		  (11,754)

		  Interest expense			   653,537		  641,173		  643,592

		  Interest income			   (172,765)		  (60,399)		  (46,802)

		  Unrealized foreign exchange (income) loss			   (21,000)		  (371,912)		  1,439,926

						      1,098,170		  1,396,151		  1,713,052

Transactions in working capital:

	 Accounts and notes receivable – Net			   (638,661)		  (533,807)		  (189,819)

	 Inventories			   1,292		  339		  9,243

	 Prepaid expenses			   23,352		  (57,439)		  52,980

	 Vacation Club inventory		  	 120,957		  (138,737)		  45,208

	 Trade accounts payable			   (8,310)		  (61,653)		  59,321

	 Other liabilities and accrued expenses			   114,260		  440,160		  (46,543)

	 Vacation Club deferred income			   154,953		  151,663		  318,757

	 Payment of income taxes		  	 (325,382)		  (816,208)		  (218,829)

			   Net cash generated by operating 

			     activities			   540,631		  380,469		  1,743,370

(Continued)

				    2018	 	 2017		  2016

Cash flows from investing activities:

	 Purchase of property and equipment			   (490,838)		  (400,535)		  (573,995)

	 Vacation Club inventory in construction		  	 (147,392)		  (67,818)		  (128,734)

	 Intangible assets and other assets			   (32,502)		  (131,634)		  (202,893)

	 Investments in securities			   –		  450,000		  –

	 Contributions of investment in associates		  	 (746,502)		  (225,000)		  –

	 Interest collected			   172,765		  60,399		  46,802

	 Sale of property and equipment			   4,918		  6,983		  15,632

	 Cash flows from sales of non–strategic properties		  	 2,941,159		  435,000		  245,000

		  Net cash generated by (used in)

		    investing activities			   1,701,608		  127,395		  (598,188)

Cash flows from financing activities:

	 Cash received from debt issuance			   –		  –		  922,635

	 Cash received from debt contracting  		  	 –		  210,000		  –

	 Loan payments			   (21,232)		  –		  (793,667)

	 Interest paid			   (672,340)		  (631,779)		  (687,315)

	 Debt issuance costs			   –		  (2,706)		  (26,424)

	 Partial payment of convertible debt			   –		  (704)		  (4,124)

	 Payment of dividends			   (198,353)		  –		  –

	 Payment of dividends to non–controlling interest			   –		  (19,188)		  –

		  Net cash used in financing activities			   (891,925)		  (444,377)		  (588,895)

	 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		  	 1,350,314		  63,487		  556,287

	 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		  1,383,584		  1,320,097		  763,810

	 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year		  $	 2,733,898	 $	 1,383,584	 $	 1,320,097

(Concluded)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S
O F  C A S H  F L O W S

GRUPO POSADAS, S.  A.  B.  DE C. V.  AND SUBSIDIARIES

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

(In thousands of Mexican pesos)
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1. 	 ACTIVITIES

Grupo Posadas, S. A. B. de C. V. (Posadas) and Subsidiaries (the Entity) are primarily engaged in the operation 

and management of hotels, the granting of hotel franchises, as well as to the purchase and sale of real estate 

within the hospitality industry. The Entity mainly operates hotels under Live Aqua, Grand Fiesta Americana, 

Fiesta Americana, The Explorean, Fiesta Inn, Fiesta Inn Loft, One Hotels and Gamma brands.

The Entity enters into long–term management contracts with all the hotels that it operates, which for pur-

poses of these consolidated financial statements, these hotels are referred to owned, leased and managed 

hotels. The number of hotels and rooms operated by the Entity at December, 31 are:

Hotels				   2018		  2017		  2016

Owned			   12		  14		  15

Leased			   15		  14		  13

Managed (including lofts)		  148		  134		  124

	 Operated hotels		  175		  162		  152

	 Operated rooms		  27,491		  25,608		  24,324

Posadas receives fees pursuant to the long–term management contracts it has with all of the hotels it  

operates. Certain fees, including management, brand use fee, reservation services and technology usage, 

among others, are based on hotel revenues. Posadas also receives an incentive fee based on the hotels’ 

operating income.

Additionally, the Entity operates a Vacation Club business called Fiesta Americana Vacation Club (FAVC), as 

well as a product called Live Aqua Residence Club (previously, The Front Door), focused on the high–income 

sector, through which members purchase a “40–year–right–to–use” evidenced by an annual allocation of 

FAVC points. FAVC points can be redeemed to stay at the Entity’s seven FAVC resorts in Los Cabos (villas and 

resort), Acapulco, Cancun, Cozumel, Chetumal and Puerto Vallarta, as well as any of the hotels in its portfolio. 

In addition, members of FAVC can also redeem their FAVC points to stay at any Resorts Condominium Inter-

national (RCI), affiliated resort or Hilton Grand Vacation Club resorts throughout the world. At the same time, 

the Entity markets a product called “Kívac” consisting in sales of points, with a maturity of up to 5 years that 

can be redeemed for stays at any of the hotels in the Entity’s portfolio, as well in some properties operated 

by third parties.

In 2012, the Entity began restructuring its business with a focus towards ownership of strategic assets and the 

growth of its hotel management business and FAVC. As part of this strategy, the Entity has sold several hotels 

and other non–strategic assets (see Note 2, subsections b, c, d, and j), and at the date of these consolidated 

financial statements, the Entity continues with the organizational restructuring to reduce the number of legal 

entities of which it is composed.

The hotel industry is seasonal and particularly sensitive to macroeconomic and social changes, leading to 

volatility in revenues and the related costs during periods of twelve months. The Entity seeks to reduce 

the impact of seasonality on its results through marketing strategies such as agreements with institutions, 

competitive prices and intensive promotion.

The Entity’s corporate offices are located in Prolongación Paseo de la Reforma 1015 Piso 9, Torre A, Col. Santa 

Fe, Mexico City.

2.	 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS 

a.	 Issuance of “Senior Notes 2022” and prepayment of “Senior Notes 2017“

	� On June 2015 the Entity completed a debt issuance for US$350 million in notes known as “Senior Notes 

2022” through the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. On May 16, 2016 an additional issuance was made 

for US$50 million as part of the “Senior Notes 2022” program, accruing interest at an annual rate of 

7.875%, maturing in 2022. The proceeds from this additional issuance of “Senior Notes 2022” were used 

to pay the balance of US$38.3 million of the debt known as “Senior Notes 2017”, with maturity in 2017, in 

November 2016.

	� With the additional issuance, the “Senior Notes 2022” program reached the total amount of US$400 

million.

	� The Senior Notes 2022 generate 7.875% interest annually with principal maturing on June 30, 2022. The 

interest is paid semiannually in June and December each year, beginning on December 30, 2015.

	� The amount of issuance expenses was $339,508, and is being amortized over the life of the new issue 

using the effective interest rate method, which includes US$16.1 million of premium for prepayment of the 

previous issue.

N O T E S  T O  T H E  C O N S O L I D A T E D 

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

GRUPO POSADAS, S.  A.  B.  DE C. V.  AND SUBSIDIARIES

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016

(In thousands of Mexican pesos)
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b.	 Sale of non–strategic assets

	� Hotel Ramada Laredo –  In April 2018 the Entity entered into a purchase and sale agreement with an in-

dividual for the hotel “Ramada Plaza” located in Laredo, Texas, USA. The price agreed for the transaction 

was US$2.5 million, and was received between April and June 2018.

	� Given that the hotel did not represent a significant business line, as established in International Financial 

Reporting Standards, the transaction was not treated as a discontinued operation in the consolidated 

statements of comprehensive income (loss).

	� Fiesta Americana Condesa Cancún – In August 2017, the Entity executed a purchase–sale contract 

subject to certain precedent conditions for the sale of the Fiesta Americana Condesa Cancún hotel 

to FibraHotel. These precedent conditions were: (i) the approval of the transaction by the Entity’s 

Stockholders Meeting and of the Holders of FibraHotel; (ii) the successful issuance of the FibraHotel’s 

Real Estate Fiduciary Securitization Certificates; and (iii) a favorable ruling of the Federal Economic 

Competition Commission regarding the transaction. Such conditions occurred at the beginning of 2018. 

The hotel was sold for $2,892,000 in February with retroactive effects to January 2018. The net effect 

from the sale is $1,345,750, which is presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

(loss), under other (revenue) expenses, net, and generated interest income of $90,181. The Entity and 

FibraHotel agreed each to invest approximately $60,000 to renovate public areas during 2017 and 2018, 

a commitment which, if the necessary corporate approvals are obtained, will be increased to $75,000 

for the Entity. At the same time the long–term lease agreement for such hotel went into effect, and both 

parties agreed the lease to have economic effects as of January 1, 2018.

	� Fiesta Inn Aeropuerto – In April 2017, the Entity executed a purchase–sale contract (subject to achieving 

the precedent condition of the merger agreed by the Stockholders’ Extraordinary Meeting dated Octo-

ber 31, 2017), through which land, buildings and equipment from the “Fiesta Inn Aeropuerto” located in 

Mexico City, were sold to an Administrative Trust of which Banca Mifel, S.A., Institución de Banca Múltiple 

(Banca Mifel) is trustee, for the amount of $435,000. Likewise, and subject to the same precedent condi-

tion, Banca Mifel, in its capacity as the hotel trustee and owner, executed a lease contract on that same 

date with the Entity for a 15–year period, whereby the latter would continue to operate the hotel. The 

precedent condition was fulfilled in July 2017 and in August, the Entity received the agreed price. Since 

that date, the Entity operates this hotel as “Leased Hotel”.

 

	� Fiesta Inn Monterrey Valle – As part of the asset’s sales strategy, the hotel was sold on August 1, 2016 to 

Deutsche Bank México, S. A. Institución de Banca Múltiple, fiduciary division, trustee of the Trust F/1596 

(FibraHotel), hotel which was operated under the commercial brand “Fiesta Inn Monterrey Valle” for the 

amount of $245,000. The Entity continues operating the hotel as “Managed Hotel”.

c.	 Property and equipment committed for sale

	� Fiesta Americana Hacienda Galindo – In June 2017, the Entity leased the Fiesta Americana Hacienda 

Galindo hotel located in the State of Queretaro to FibraHotel. The hotel has 168 rooms and was remod-

eled in different stages during 2017 with an investment made by FibraHotel of $155,000. The Entity 

simultaneously agreed to sell this hotel and its contents, subject to the deadline and other conditions 

that must be fulfilled in early 2020 at the latest, when, the transaction price will be determined based on 

an amount equal to 10.06 times earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 

generated by the hotel during 2019 and after deducting the investment made by FibraHotel. The value of 

the hotel and its contents are therefore presented as long–term as “property and equipment committed 

for sale” in the consolidated statements of financial position. During the lease period and following the 

closing of the purchase–sale, the Entity will continue to operate the hotel under the terms of a hotel and 

brand licensing agreement executed for a 22.5–year term.

	� Fiesta Americana Hermosillo – On April 29, 2016 a purchase and sale agreement was signed subject 

to term, precedent conditions and a purchase option with FibraHotel for the sale of the hotel “Fiesta 

Americana Hermosillo” in accordance with the following clauses: i) the respective term will expire on 

January 31, 2020, ii) the consideration will be that resulting from multiplying 10.06 times the average 

of the hotel’s EBITDA for the last three years, less the investment made in leasehold improvements 

and disbursements, subject to a floor price of $80,500. At the same time as the signing of the sales 

contract, the Entity signed a lease agreement with FibraHotel for a non–cancellable term maturing in 

2020 for $10,000, which the Entity must invest in property improvements; also, FibraHotel agrees under 

the same terms to invest $75,000 in such property. The sale of the property will be recognized once the 

aforementioned clauses are duly fulfilled. 

	� As a result of signing the purchase–sale contract, the Entity conducted an impairment study for the 

Fiesta Americana Hermosillo hotel, and determined in 2016 an effect of $57,064, presented under the 

caption “Depreciation, amortization, real estate leasing, cost of disposal and impairment of assets”, in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). During 2018 the Entity updated the impairment 

study and determined an additional effect of $19,498, recorded in the same caption of the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income (loss).

	� According to the contracts with precedent conditions executed by the Entity with third parties, Manage-

ment classified as long–term the real property and equipment committed for sale in the consolidated 

statement of financial position. Once the conditions detailed in IFRS 5, Non–current assets held for  

sale and discontinued operations, are fulfilled, these items will be presented as “assets classified as held 

for sale”.

d.	 Renewal of hotel operation contracts

	� On February 2017, the Entity executed an amendatory agreements to the hotel operation and brand 

licensing contracts for the Fiesta Americana Grand Coral Beach, Fiesta Americana Grand Guadalajara, 

Fiesta Americana Puerto Vallarta and One Guadalajara Periferico Norte hotels, through which it obtained 

a contract extension until December 2027 in exchange for the payment of a premium of US$6 million. 

Of this amount, the Entity paid US$3 million on February 2017; the remainder was paid in January 2018, 

accruing interest at a 12% rate. The total amount is presented as “intangible assets and other assets” in 

the consolidated statements of financial position. 

 

e.	 Execution of a contract in the Dominican Republic

	� During September 2017, the Entity executed a contract to operate the Grand Fiesta Americana hotel 

in Punta Cana, Dominican Republic, with 554 rooms, for 15 years. The contract establishes restrictions 

regarding the operation of another hotel under the same brand in a nearby area for a certain period of 

time. The estimated start date of operation is the second semester of 2021.
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f.	 Execution of a contract in Cuba

	� In February 2018, the Entity signed operating contracts for two Fiesta Americana All Inclusive hotels in 

Cuba. The first will be a hotel with 633 rooms in Playa Varadero, while the second will have 749 rooms, 

more than 10 restaurants and approximately 36,000 m2 of gardens, located in Playa Pesquero, Provincia 

de Holguín, on the eastern coast of Cuba. Both hotels have local investment and the Entity expects they 

will be in operation during the first quarter of 2019.

g.	 Mayan Riviera Trust

	� During April, 2017, the Entity formalized its participation in a hotel project on the Mayan Riviera through 

the execution, together with other beneficiaries, to create a Business Activity Administration and War-

ranty Trust, with the contribution of land and cash. The amount of $225,000 in cash was contributed by 

the Entity in April 2017 (Trust incorporation date). On August 16, 2018 the Entity contributed additional 

$225,000 to begin the construction phase.

	� In March 2018, the Entity also acquired a participation from one of the beneficiaries at $535,100, for 

which it applied a deposit of $67,000 that was originally recorded in “long–term prepaid expenses” in 

March 2017, and disbursed the remainder of $468,100 on March 9, 2018. With this purchase, the Entity 

increased its Trust holding from 6% to 12.5%. Also, during 2018 the Entity contributed $46,000 in kind to 

the Trust for the expanded construction licenses required to complete the project with the anticipated 

density. This investment is presented under “Investment in associates” in the consolidated statements of 

financial position.

	� The project considers two hotels, a Fiesta Americana with 515 rooms and a Live Aqua with 340 rooms, 

which will be operated by the Entity. Similarly, to guarantee the operation of the hotels during a 20–year 

period, the Entity will pay US$10 million to the Trust as a lease assignment fee. The operating contract 

establishes a guaranteed annual gross operating profit of US$12 million.

h.	 Agreements reached with the Tax Administration Service (SAT) regarding tax liabilities

	� In April 2017, the Entity reached a series of agreements with the SAT to resolve differences of criteria 

regarding trademark amortization, the deduction of interest derived from the acquisition of those trade-

marks, the tax treatment given to real estate infrastructure companies (SIBRAs), the amortization of 

usufruct rights and, more specifically, the effects generated by the termination of the tax consolidation 

regime. These agreements generated the following effects for the Entity:

	 i.	�� For the year 2013, a loss derived from a sale of shares was eliminated from the calculation of the ter-

mination of the tax consolidation regime, thus resulting in the recognition of an additional payment 

obligation in different years for the total amount of $2,376,000. Of this amount, the Entity settled 

$524,000 in April 2017; the remaining will be settled through annual payments from 2018 through 

2023, for the approximate amount of $308,600 each, subject to inflation indexing. As part of the 

agreements reached with SAT, $72,600 of 2007 tax was included in the calculation and the payment 

period determined for the termination of the tax consolidation regime.

		�  For the first three annual payments, the Entity requested authorization to apply the terms of article 

70–A of the Federal Tax Code (surcharges calculated at rollover rate and the elimination of fines), 

which was accepted and confirmed by Decentralized Tax Collection Office of the Federal District 

“1”, through the issuance of a favorable ruling. Based on this agreement, the right of Posadas to 

carry–forward tax losses at December 31, 2013, for the amount of $7,751,000, was confirmed.

	 ii.	�� With regard to 2008, 2009 and 2010, the tax authorities accepted that the Entity would only settle 

the ancillary charges resulting from the observed items, for the amount of $15,800. The Entity filed 

an authorization request to obtain a favorable ruling from the SAT to enable it to apply the benefits 

detailed in the aforementioned article 70–A of the Federal Tax Code.

	 iii.	� The Entity obtained close documents for 2010 and 2013 audits with the same conclusion as those 

mentioned in the preceding numerals i) and ii). For 2007, 2008 and 2009, the Entity received notifi-

cation documents through which the authorities resolved to revoke the rulings that determined the 

respective tax liabilities. It is important to mention that the agreements reached for 2007, 2008 and 

2009 were ratified in August 2017 when the Entity obtained conclusive agreements issued by the 

Taxpayer’s Defense Office.

	 iv.	� In the case of the subsidiaries Gran Inmobiliaria Posadas, S.A. de C.V. and Inversora Inmobiliaria Club, 

S.A. de C.V. (both considered as SIBRAs), the tax authorities determined that the amortization rate 

used for the usufruct rights contributed by Posadas be modified beginning 2013, thus resulting in 

additional payments of $56,400 and $13,300, respectively.

i.	 Credit granted to the Fiesta Americana Mérida Hotel

	� In June 2017, a subsidiary of the Entity, 51% owner of the shares of the Fiesta Americana Mérida hotel, 

contracted a credit for a seven–year period for the amount of $210,000, at an annual 9.175% interest rate 

with a fiduciary warranty with Banco Nacional de México, S. A. (Banamex). Proceeds were used to pay 

taxes, improve the hotel’s public areas and for other corporate purposes. This amount is presented as 

“long–term debt” in the consolidated statements of financial position, except for the amount payable in 

2019, which is presented as short–term. On January 23, 2018, a $10,000 principal prepayment was made. 

From July 2018 the Entity has paid monthly principal installments of $1,872, and the outstanding balance 

as of  December 31, 2018 is $188,768.

j.	 Corporate Restructuring Process

	�� On May 2018, the Entity merged its subsidiary Servicios Gerenciales Posadas, S.A. de C.V. This merger did 

not generate any effects in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

	�� In October 2018, after the sale of the Ramada Laredo hotel referred to in Note 2 b., the Entity dissolved 

its indirect subsidiary BIA Acquisition, LLC, which was incorporated in Texas, USA. The dissolution did not 

have any effect on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

	�� On September 2017, Posadas merged its subsidiaries Administración Digital Conectum, S.A. de C.V., 

Posadas de Latinoamérica, S.A. de C.V., Desarrollos Inmobiliarios Posadas, S.A. de C.V., Servicios Adminis-

trativos Posadas, S.A. de C.V., Porto Ixtapa, S.A. de C.V. and Solosol Tours, S.A. de C.V. This merger did not 

generate any effects in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Posadas absorbed under 

general title all the assets and liabilities, obligations and warranties of the merged entities.
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k.	� Earthquake in Mexico City, hurricanes and other events

	 September, 2017 was significantly affected by the following events: 

	� i.	� Meteorological phenomena: Hurricane “Harvey” in the Caribbean affected the cities of Houston and 

Miami, while diverting the flow of US tourists to Mexico. Hurricane and tropical storms Irma, Katia and 

Lidia primarily affected Cancun, Los Cabos and Veracruz. 

	� ii.	� The travel alerts issued by the United States of America government for North American travelers 

affected several cities; in the case of Cancun and Los Cabos, these alerts were withdrawn on January 

10, 2018.

	� iii.	� The September 7 and 19 earthquakes affected the states of Chiapas, Oaxaca, Morelos, Puebla and 

Mexico City, which significantly affected the second half of the month’s occupation percentages and 

the system’s average rate.

	� These events reduced 2017 third quarter’s earnings before taxes, interest, depreciation and amortiza-

tion by approximately $50,000. Although the facilities of certain hotels owned by the Entity suffered 

non–structural damages, they have insurance policies to cover real property damage and the business 

consequential losses.

3.	� APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REP ORTING STANDARDS

a.	� Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS or IAS) mandatorily 

effective for the current year

	� In the current year, the Entity applied a number of amendments to IFRS issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are mandatorily effective on January 1, 2018, which did not 

have important effects on the Entity’s consolidated financial statements.

	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

	� •	� IFRS 9 requires that all recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 9 Financial  

Instruments are required to be subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value. Specifically, debt 

investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash 

flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal outstanding are generally measured at amortized cost at the end of subsequent accounting 

periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by 

collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms that give 

rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 

amount outstanding, are generally measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTO-

CI). All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair value at the end of 

subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to 

present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading nor 

contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination) in other comprehensive 

income, with only dividend income generally recognized in profit or loss.

	� •	� With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as of fair value through profit 

or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is 

attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, 

unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive 

income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value 

attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under 

IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as fair 

value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.

	 •	� In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as 

opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an 

entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each 

reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer 

necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognized. After evaluating 

the impact of IFRS 9, the Entity did not have a material effect from the adoption of the standard 

because it has applied similar criteria in previous years. However, the following reclassification was 

originated to show the Vacation Club returns’ reserve net of notes receivable, as follows:

	 December 31,		  December 31,

	 2017		  2017

			   (previously

	 (reclassified)	 Reclassification	 reported)

		  Assets

		    Current assets:

		      Accounts and notes receivable – Net	 $	 2,645,367	 $	 (58,917)	 $	 2,704,284

			   Total current assets	 $	 5,996,134	 $	 (58,917)	 $	 6,055,051

		  Non–current assets:

		    Notes receivable	 $	 2,649,388	 $	 (129,617)	 $	 2,779,005

			   Total non–current assets	 $	 10,348,923	 $	 (129,617)	 $	 10,478,540

		  Liabilities

		  Current liabilities:

		    Other liabilities and accrued  

		      expenses	 $	 1,188,671	 $	 (58,917)	 $	 1,247,588

			   Total current liabilities	 $	 2,872,799	 $	 (58,917)	 $	 2,931,716

		  Long–term liabilities:

		    Accrued liabilities	 $	 360,539	 $	 (129,617)	 $	 490,156

		  Total long–term liabilities	 $	 11,049,306	 $	 129,617	 $	 11,178,923
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	 December 31,		  December 31,

	 2016		  2016

			   (previously

	 (reclassified)	 Reclassification	 reported)

	 Assets

	 Current assets:

	   Accounts and notes receivable – Net	 $	 2,661,627	 $	 (73,595)	 $	 2,735,222

		  Total current assets	 $	 4,789,539	 $	 (73,595)	 $	 4,863,134

	 Non–current assets:

	   Notes receivable	 $	 2,121,497	 $	 (109,778)	 $	 2,231,275

		  Total non–current assets	 $	 10,097,458	 $	 (109,778)	 $	 10,207,236

	 Liabilities

	 Current liabilities:

	   Other liabilities and accrued

	     expenses	 $	 988,238	 $	 (73,595)	 $	 1,061,833

	 Total current liabilities:	 $	 2,426,699	 $	 (73,595)	 $	 2,500,294

	 Long–term liabilities:

	   Accrued liabilities	 $	 349,898	 $	 (109,778)	 $	 459,676

		  Total long–term liabilities	 $	 9,532,021	 $	 (109,778)	 $	 9,641,799

	� •	� Hedge accounting requirements have three mechanisms for accounting of hedges currently avail-

able in IAS 39. In accordance with IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced for the types of 

instruments to be classified in hedge accounting, by specifically expanding the types of qualifying 

instruments and the types of risk components of non–financial items which are eligible for hedge 

accounting. Furthermore, the effectiveness tests have been revised and replaced with the concept 

“economic relationship”. Hereinafter the retrospective evaluation of the effectiveness will not be 

required, and improved disclosure requirements have been introduced to manage the Entity’s risks.

	 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

	� The core principle is to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to cus-

tomers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in ex-

change for those goods or services. Specifically, a 5–step approach is introduced to revenue recognition: 

	 1.	 Identify the contract(s) with a customer

	 2.	 Identify the performance obligations in the contract

	 3.	 Determine the transaction price

	 4.	 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

	 5.	 Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

 

	 �Therefore, income should be recognized when a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of 

the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. 

Far more prescriptive guidance has been added to deal with specific scenarios, and extensive disclo-

sures are required. When IFRS 15 becomes effective, it will supersede the   revenue recognition guidance 

including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations. 

	 �The process of analyzing the effects of IFRS 15 includes reviewing current accounting policies and prac-

tices to identify potential differences, that could result from the application of the new standard. Most 

revenues are generated through providing services that will continue to be recognized when hotel ser-

vices are provided to guests, while also considering: i) the estimation of those points which, at maturity, 

will not be used from the sale of Kivac points; ii) revenues generated by administrative and trademark 

fees which are currently recognized as accrued; iii) revenues resulting from the loyalty program and the 

related evaluation of agent and/or principal, which are currently recognized when administrative services 

are provided or when prices are redeemed in accordance with executed contracts; and iv) the valuation 

of identified performance obligations.

	 �Furthermore, the Entity, despite operating the real properties sold under this modality, may be removed 

by vote of the membership buyers under certain normal business conditions, for which reason the Entity 

concluded that there is a transfer of control of the real properties to the buyers. 

	 �After evaluating the impact of IFRS 15, the Entity did not have any material effects from adopting the 

standard. However, the following reclassification was originated in the consolidated statement of com-

prehensive income (loss), to show the gain from the sale of strategic assets in other (revenues) expenses, 

net, as follows:

				    December 31,				    December 31,

				    2017		  Reclassification		  2017

								        (previously

				    (reclassified)	 Debit		  Credit	 reported)

	 Revenue	 $	 8,471,990	 $	 435,000	 $	 –	 $	 8,906,990

	 Costs			   5,014,507		  –		  331,982		  5,346,489

	 Gross profit		  3,457,483		  –		  –		  3,560,501

		  Other expenses

		    (revenue), net	 $	 (47,756)	 $	 –	 $	 103,018	 $	 55,262

				    December 31,				    December 31,

				    2016		  Reclassification		  2016

				    (reclassified)	 Debit		  Credit	 (reclassified)

	 Revenue	 $	 7,734,349	 $	 245,000	 $	 –	 $	 7,979,349

	 Costs			   4,402,320		  –		  136,627		  4,538,947

	 Gross profit		  3,332,029		  –		  –		  3,440,402

		  Other expenses 

		    (revenue), net	 $	 2,548	 $	 –	 $	 108,373	 $	 110,921
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b.	� New and revised IFRS issued but not yet effective

	 �The following new and revised IFRS have been issued to date but are not yet effective. These IFRS allow 

earlier application, option that in the consolidated financial statement as of December, 31, 2018 the Entity 

did not elect.

	 �Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, for which it is not practicable to 

provide a reasonably estimate of their effects on the consolidated financial statements until having 

performed a detailed analysis and review.

	 IFRS 16, Leases

	� IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is con-

trolled by a customer. “Distinctions of operating leases (off balance sheet) and finance leases (on bal-

ance sheet) are removed for lessee accounting and is replaced by a model where a right–of –use asset 

and a corresponding liability have to recognized for all leases by lessees on the statement of financial 

position except for short–term leases and leases of low value assets.

	� The right–of–use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to cer-

tain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement 

of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payment as 

well as the impact of lease modifications, among the others. Furthermore, the classification of cash flows 

will also be affected as operating lease payments under IAS 17 are presented as operating cash flows, 

whereas under the IFRS 16 model, the lease payments will be split into a principal and interest portion 

which will be presented as financing and operating cash flows respectively. 

	� However, a lessee may elect to account for lease payments as an expense on a straight–line basis over 

the lease term for leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and containing no purchase options 

(election made by class of underlying asset); and leases where the underlying asset has a low value 

when new, such as personal computers or small items of office furniture (election can be made on a 

lease–by–lease basis).

	� The Entity as lessor – After evaluating the impact of IFRS 16 in the Fiesta Americana Vacation Club and 

Live Aqua Residence Club, businesses, the Entity believes that from the time of the sale it has fulfilled 

its performance obligation, because the sale represents a transfer of “right–to–use” to the membership 

buyers, evidenced by an encumbrance on the properties sold under these brands filed with the Public 

Records Office, which grants the buyers enforceable rights before third parties.

	� The Entity as lessee – The Entity decided to adopt the standard under the modified retrospective meth-

od for leases of hotels and automobiles, which at the close of 2018 are presented as operating leases, 

waiving the comparability with prior periods as described in further detail in the section Significant 

accounting policies, and will have an impact on financing leverage and interest coverage ratios. 

	� The Entity is in the process of determining the potential impacts that will derive from the adoption of this 

standard in its consolidated financial statements.

4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING P OLICIES

a.	 Statement of compliance

	� The consolidated financial statements of the Entity have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, as 

issued by the IASB.

b.	 Basis of preparation

	� The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 

hotel properties that were recognized at fair value at the date of transition to IFRS.

	 i.	 Historical cost 

	�	�  Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 

and services.

 

	 ii.	 Fair value

	�	�  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price 

is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of 

an asset or a liability, the Entity takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market 

participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 

measurement date.

	�	�  In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 

or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 

significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

		�  •	� Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

that the entity can access at the measurement date;

		�  •	� Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

		�  •	� Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

c.	 Basis of consolidation

	� The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Posadas and entities con-

trolled by the Entity and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when Posadas:

	� •	 Has power over the investee;

	 •	 Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

	 •	 Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

	� The Entity reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 

are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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	� When Posadas has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 

when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 

investee unilaterally. Posadas considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not 

the Posadas’ voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

	� •	� The percentage of Posadas’ holding of voting rights relative to the percentage and dispersion of 

voting rights of the other vote holders;

	� •	 Potential voting rights held by Posadas, other vote holders or other parties;

	� •	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

	� •	� Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that Posadas has, or does not have, the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting 

patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

	� Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Entity obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 

when Posadas loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired 

or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

(loss) from the date Posadas gains control until the date when it ceases to control the subsidiary.

	� Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (loss) are attributed to the owners of 

the Entity and to the non–controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed 

to the owners of the Entity and to the non–controlling interests even if this results in the non–controlling 

interests having a deficit balance.

	� When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their ac-

counting policies into line with Posadas’ accounting policies.

	� The percentage in the share capital of the subsidiaries is as follows:

				    Participation (%)

			   Entity	 2018, 2017 and 2016

	 Inmobiliaria del Sudeste, S.A. de C.V.	 51%

	 Inversora Inmobiliaria Club, S.A. de C.V.	 100%

	 Konexo Centro de Soluciones, S.A. de C.V.	 100%

	 Operadora del Golfo de México, S.A. de C.V.	 100%

	 Posadas USA, Inc.	 100%

	 Promoción y Publicidad Fiesta, S.A. de C.V.	 100%

	 Soluciones de Lealtad, S.A. de C.V.	 100%

	 Bia Acquisition, Ltd. (1) 	 100%

	 Servicios Gerenciales Posadas, S.A. de C.V. (2) 	 100%

	 Administración Digital Conectum, S.A. de C.V. y subsidiarias (3)	 100%

	 Promotora Inmobiliaria Hotelera, S.A. de C.V. y subsidiarias (4) 	 100%

	 Controladora de Acciones Posadas, S.A. de C.V. y subsidiarias (4) 	 100%

	 Hoteles y Villas Posadas, S.A. de C.V. (4) 	 100%

	 Gran Operadora Posadas, S.A. de C.V. (4) 	 100%

	� (1)	� Dissolved entity during 2018.

	� (2)	 Subsidiary entities merged into Posadas during 2018.

	 �(3)	 Subsidiary entities merged into Posadas during 2017.

	� (4)	 Subsidiary entities merged into Posadas during 2016.

	� All intragroup balances, transactions and cash flows between members of the Entity are eliminated on 

consolidation.

	 Changes in the Entity’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

	� Changes in the Entity’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Entity losing control 

over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Entity’s 

interests and the non–controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in 

the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non–controlling interests are adjusted 

and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to 

owners of the Entity. 

	� When the Entity loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss and is calculat-

ed as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair 

value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), 

and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non–controlling interests. All amounts previously recognized 

in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Entity had 

directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or 

transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRS). The fair value of 

any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair 

value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of 

an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

d.	 Financial instruments

	� Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Entity becomes a party to the contrac-

tual provisions of the instruments.

	� Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 

financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted 

from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

e.	 Financial assets

	� All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date 

basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 

assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

	� All recognized financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortized cost or fair 

value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 

	 Classification of financial assets 

	� Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortized cost:

	� •	� the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order 

to collect contractual cash flows; and
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	� •	� the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

	 Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at FVTOCI:

	� •	� the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and 

	 •	� the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

	� By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

	� All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date 

basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 

assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 

	� i)	� Amortized cost and effective interest method

	�	�  The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a debt instrument and 

of allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

	�	�  For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit–impaired financial assets (i.e. assets 

that are credit–impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form 

an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 

excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appro-

priate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 

For purchased or originated credit–impaired financial assets, a credit–adjusted effective interest rate 

is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the 

amortized cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

	�	�  The amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at ini-

tial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortization using the effective 

interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for 

any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial 

asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

	�	�  Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured sub-

sequently at amortized cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than purchased or originated 

credit–impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate 

to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently 

become credit–impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit–im-

paired, interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of 

the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit–impaired financial 

instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit–impaired, interest income is recog-

nized by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

		�  For purchased or originated credit–impaired financial assets, the Entity recognizes interest income 

by applying the credit–adjusted effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset 

from initial recognition. The calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the 

financial asset subsequently improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit–impaired.

 

		  Interest income is recognized in profit or loss and is included as “interest income”.

	 ii)	 Impairment of financial assets

		�  The Entity recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments 

that are measured at amortized cost or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade receivables and contract 

assets, as well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount of expected credit losses is updated 

at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 

financial instrument.

		�  The Entity always recognizes lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) for trade receivables, contract 

assets and lease receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated 

using a provision matrix based on the Entity’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors 

that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current 

as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money 

where appropriate.

		�  For all other financial instruments, the Entity recognizes lifetime ECL when there has been a signifi-

cant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instru-

ment has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Entity measures the loss allowance 

for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12–month ECL.

		�  Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events 

over the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12–month ECL represents the portion of 

lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible 

within 12 months after the reporting date.

	 iii)	 Credit–impaired financial assets

		�  A financial asset is credit–impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 

credit–impaired includes observable data about the following events:

		�  (a)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

		  (b)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above);

		  (c)	� the lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s finan-

cial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise 

consider;

		  (d)	� it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganiza-

tion; or

		  (e)	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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	 iv)	 Derecognition of financial assets

		�  The Entity derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 

the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Entity neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Entity recognizes 

its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the 

Entity retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the 

Entity continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for 

the proceeds received.

		�  On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortized cost, the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognized in profit or loss. 

f.	 Cash, cash equivalents and investments in securities

	� Cash consists of cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are maintained to meet cash 

commitments rather than short term for investment or other purposes. For an investment to qualify as 

a cash equivalent it must be readily convertible to a known amount of cash and subject to insignificant 

risk of changes in value.

	� Therefore, an investment normally qualifies as a cash equivalent when it has a short maturity of generally 

three months or less from the date of acquisition. Investments in securities are not included in cash 

equivalents unless they are, in substance, cash equivalents. Otherwise, they are presented as invest-

ments in securities. Cash is stated at nominal value and cash equivalents are measured at fair value, the 

changes in value are recognized in profit or loss.

g.	 Inventorie

	� Inventories are stated at average cost, which does not exceed their net realizable value.

h.	 Vacation Club inventory

	� Vacation Club inventories are recorded at cost of construction. Cost of sales is recorded at the time  

of sales.

	� The long–term Vacation Club inventories correspond to the cost of reconstruction of hotel buildings, 

which are remodeled to provide Vacation Club services. Short–term Vacation Club units represent hotel 

buildings approved for sale by Management that are expected to be sold within one year, therefore, they 

are classified as current assets even though their business cycle could be longer.

i.	 Property and equipment

	� Furniture and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses.

	� The cost of improvements, renovations and replacements to hotel rooms are capitalized within the prop-

erty and equipment caption and are amortized over a period of 3 to 5 years. The costs of minor repairs 

and maintenance are expensed as they are incurred.

	� Properties in the course of construction for exploitation, supply or administrative purposes are carried at 

cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, bor-

rowing costs capitalized in accordance with the Entity’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified 

to the appropriate categories of property and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. 

Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets 

are ready for their intended use.

	� The average percentage rate of depreciation of the components of property and equipment are:

		  (%)

	

	 Buildings – Construction	 2 to 5

	 Buildings – Installation, finishing and improvements	 5 to 10

	 Furniture and equipment 	 10

	 Vehicles	 25

	 Computer 	 30

	 Operating equipment	 33

	 Land is not depreciated.

	� Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than land and prop-

erties under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, which is 24% for buildings, as 

determined by the independent valuation agents, using the straight–line method. The estimated useful 

lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the 

effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

	� An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 

are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 

retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

	� Property and equipment committed for sale refers to properties for which purchase–sale contracts have 

been executed and which will take effect within a period exceeding 12 months as of the date of the 

consolidated statements of financial position.

j.	 Intangible assets and other assets

	� This item includes all direct costs, primarily commissions on Kívac sales, which are recognized in the 

consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), once the service is rendered and accordingly 

revenue is recognized. An estimate of amounts expected to be utilized over the following 12 months is 

determined and classified within current assets.

	 1.	 Internally–generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure

	�	  Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.



A
N

N
U

A
L

 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 

2
0

1
8

1 3 1

	�	�  An internally–generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase 

of an internal project) is recognized if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

	�	�  •	� The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use  

or sale.

�		�  •	� The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it.

�		�  •	� The ability to use or sell the intangible asset.

�		�  •	� How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits.

�		�  •	� The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development 

and to use or sell the intangible asset.

�		�  •	� The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development.

		��  The amount initially recognized for internally–generated intangible assets is the sum of the expen-

diture incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed 

above. Where no internally–generated intangible asset can be recognized, development expenditure 

is recognized in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

		��  Subsequent to initial recognition, internally–generated intangible assets are reported at cost less 

accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible 

assets that are acquired separately.

	 2.	 Derecognition of intangible assets

	�	�  An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected 

from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured 

as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset are 

recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized.

k.	 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

	� At the end of each reporting period, the Entity reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangi-

ble assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 

loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine 

the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount  

of an individual asset, the Entity estimates the recoverable amount of the cash–generating unit to  

which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, cor-

porate assets are also allocated to individual cash–generating units, or otherwise they are allocated  

to the smallest group of cash–generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis 

can be identified.

	� Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 

impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

	� Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre–tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset 

for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

	� If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash–generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash–generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. 

An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 

revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

	� When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or a cash–generating 

unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 

been recognized for the asset or cash generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 

is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 

which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

l.	 Assets classified as held for sale

	� Non–current assets and groups of assets for disposal are classified as held for sale if their carrying 

amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This 

condition is regarded as met only when the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its 

present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such asset or disposal 

group and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be 

expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification, 

or a longer period as long as the criteria continue to be met.

	� When the Entity is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets 

and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, 

regardless of whether the Entity will retain a non–controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

	� After the disposal takes place, the Entity accounts for any retained interest in the associate or joint 

venture in accordance with IAS 39 unless the retained interest continues to be an associate or a joint 

venture, in which case the Entity uses the equity method (see the accounting policy regarding invest-

ments in associates).

	� Non–current assets (and groups of assets for disposal) classified as held for sale are measured at the 

lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

m.	 Investments in associates

	� An associate is an entity over which the Entity has significant influence. Significant influence is the power 

to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint 

control over those policies. Usually these entities are those in which a shareholding between 20% and 

50% of the voting rights are held. The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in 

these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

n.	 Leasing

	� Until 2018, leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially 

all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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	� 1.	 �The Entity as lessee – Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight–line 

basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time 

pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising 

under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

		��  In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are 

recognized as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental 

expense on a straight–line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of 

the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

	�� As of January 1, 2019, the Entity assesses whether the lease agreements allow it to determine the use of 

an identified asset, and whether the terms of each lease give it the right to substantially obtain all the 

economic benefits from the use of such identified assets. 

	�� Based on this assessment, the Entity concludes that the leases of real properties, automobiles and 

certain hotel equipment will be recognized as use right assets, with the respective payment obligation, 

discounting the value of the remaining future payments of the leases. The Entity will use the modified 

retrospective adoption method, thus waiving the comparability with previous periods. 

	�� The discount rate is made up of the US T–bill rate, increased by a margin according to the Entity’s credit 

rating in effect at the beginning of each lease, adjusting for the mortgage security in the case of real 

property.

	�� For leases of real properties which contain options to renew, the Entity considers case–by–case whether 

it will exercise the option to renew at the end of the initial mandatory term, based on the economic 

benefits it expects to obtain.

	�� The Entity will take the exemption for computer leases because it considers them low unit value, as 

permitted by IFRS 16.  Consequently, these leases will continue to be recorded as an operating expense.

o.	 Foreign currencies transactions 

	� In preparing the financial statements of each entity, transactions in currencies other than the Entity’s 

functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates 

of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign curren-

cies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. 

	� Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise 

except for:

	 –	� Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for fu-

ture productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an 

adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings.

	 –	� Exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks.

	 The recording and functional currencies of the foreign operation are as follows:

		  Recording and

	 Country	 functional currencies

	

	 United States of America	 US dollar

	� For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 

Entity’s foreign operations are translated into currency units using exchange rates prevailing at the end 

of each reporting period. 

p.	 Employee benefits

	� Retirement benefits costs from termination benefits

	� Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognized as an expense when employ-

ees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

	� For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the pro-

jected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting 

period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset 

ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the 

statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognized in other comprehensive income in the 

period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognized in other comprehensive income is reflected im-

mediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or loss. Past service cost is recognized 

in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount 

rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are 

categorized as follows:

	� •	� Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtail-

ments and settlements).

	 •	 Net interest expense or income.

	 •	 Remeasurement.

	� The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position rep-

resents the actual deficit or surplus in the Entity’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this 

calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from 

the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans.

	� A liability for a termination benefit is recognized at the earlier of when the Entity can no longer withdraw 

the offer of the termination benefit and when the entity recognizes any related restructuring costs.

	 Short–term and other long–term employee benefits

	� A liability is recognized for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave 

and sick leave in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits 

expected to be paid in exchange for that service.
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	� Liabilities recognized in respect of short–term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted 

amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

	� Liabilities recognized in respect of other long–term employee benefits are measured at the present value 

of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Entity in respect of services provided 

by employees up to the reporting date.

	 Statutory employee profit sharing (PTU) 

	� The PTU is recorded in the results of the year in which it is incurred and is presented in administration 

expenses line item in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).

	� As result of the 2014, Income Tax Law, PTU is determined based on taxable income, according to Section 

I of Article 9 of such Law.

q.	 Income taxes

	 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

	� 1.	 Current tax

		  Current income tax (ISR) is recognized in the results of the year in which is incurred.

	�	�  Current tax is payable on the taxable basis for the year. Taxable profit differs from the net income 

as it is reported in profit or loss because it excludes components of revenues or expenses that are 

accruable or deductible in other years and excludes components which have never been accruable 

or deductible. The Entity’s liabilities for current taxes are calculated using the tax rates that were 

established at the end of the reporting period.

	�	�  A provision is recognized accordingly where the determination of the tax is uncertain, but it is con-

sidered likely to result in a future outlay of funds for a tax authority. Provisions are valued at the 

best amount that is expected to be payable. The evaluation is based on the judgment of tax experts 

supported by the Entity’s previous experiences in this type of activity, and in certain cases, the 

opinion of an independent tax specialist.

	 2.	 Deferred income tax 

	�	�  Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the com-

putation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary 

differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to 

the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible 

temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if 

the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 

assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

	�	�  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

	�	�  Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 

period in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates and tax laws that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

	�	�  The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 

follow from the manner in which the Entity expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or 

settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

	� 3.	 Current and deferred tax for the year

	�	�  Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that 

are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and 

deferred tax are also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 

Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination the 

tax effect is included in that recognition.

r.	 Provisions

	� Provisions are recognized when the Entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 

a past event, it is probable that the Entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 

can be made of the amount of the obligation.

	� The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 

present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 

surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 

present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the 

time value of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision 

are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually 

certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

s.	 Financial liabilities

	� All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method 

or at FVTPL. 

	� However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecogni-

tion or when the continuing involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by 

the Entity, are measured in accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below. 

	� When the Entity exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with the 

substantially different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original finan-

cial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Entity accounts for substantial 

modification of terms of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original financial 

liability and the recognition of a new liability. It is assumed that the terms are substantially different if 

the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any 

fees received and discounted using the original effective rate is at least 10 per cent different from the 

discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If the modification 

is not substantial, the difference between: (1) the carrying amount of the liability before the modification; 

and (2) the present value of the cash flows after modification should be recognized in profit or loss as 

the modification gain or loss within other gains and losses.
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t.	 Revenue recognition 

	 The Entity recognizes its revenues as follows:

	� i.	� Revenues from the hotel operation, which includes the operation of owned and leased hotels, are 

recognized as the hotel services are rendered to guests, which include the rental of guestrooms 

and rooms for events, sale of food and beverages, etc.; in the case of leased hotels, the Entity 

determines whether it is acting as agent or principal by assessing whether it provides hospital-

ity services on its own account or for a third party, whether it assumes the risk of the available 

rooms inventory, whether it assumes the credit risk for the amounts collected from customers, 

and whether the consideration for its services is equivalent to a fee for hotel operation and man-

agement contract. Based on this determination, the Entity concluded that for leased hotels it can 

recognize the revenues from hotel services for the gross amount it expects to collect for such 

services, except for the hotels Fiesta Americana Condesa Cancún and Live Aqua Playa del Carmen, 

where the Entity concluded that it is acting as an agent of the lessor.

	� ii.	� Revenues from the Vacation Club business are recognized as revenue at the time of the sale, be-

cause the Entity believes that, when it sells the use right, it has fulfilled its performance obligation, 

by transferring a right before third parties, and by transferring the control of the real properties 

to the buyers of memberships, who may then remove the Entity from the operation under certain 

normal business conditions. 

	� iii.	�� Revenues from the sale of Kívac points are recognized once the hospitality service is rendered, 

including an estimate of those points which will not be used by the program members at their 

expiration date. The amount of the unused services contracted is presented under the heading 

“Deferred income from Vacation Club”, as short–term and long–term in the consolidated state-

ments of financial position;

	� iv.	� Revenues from management and brand fees are recognized as they are accrued based on a per-

centage of the revenues and the profit from hotel operation, as established in the respective 

contracts; and 

	� v.	� Revenues derived from loyalty programs with third parties, are recognized when the management 

service of the programs is rendered or due to the redemption of prizes in conformity with the 

contracts signed.

	� vi.	� Revenues (expenses) from the sale of strategic assets are recognized once the risks and rewards 

are transferred to the buyer and/or the precedent conditions of the purchase–sale contracts  

are fulfilled.

u.	 Classification of costs and expenses 

	� Costs and expenses presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) were 

classified according to their function.

v.	 Statements of cash flows 

	� The Entity reports cash flows from operating activities using 	 the indirect method, whereby profit or 

loss is adjusted for the effects of transactions of a non–cash nature, any deferrals or accruals of past or 

future operating cash receipts or payments, and items of income or expense associated with investing 

or financing cash flows. 

	� Interest paid is usually classified as financing activities and interest and dividends received are usually 

classified as investing activities.

w.	 Loyalty programs

	� The fair value of the awards is recognized as a reduction to revenues and recognized as deferred income 

until the benefits are delivered to the client. The liability is presented under the heading of “other liabili-

ties and accrued expenses” in the consolidated statements of financial position.

x.	 Earnings (loss)per share of the controlling interest

	� Basic earnings (loss) per share are calculated by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to the 

controlling interest by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. As of De-

cember 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Entity does not have ordinary shares with potential dilution effects. 

5.	� CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Entity’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 4, the Entity’s Management 

is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabil-

ities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 

on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from 

these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting esti-

mates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or 

in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the critical judgments and important sources of uncertainty which the Entity’s Management 

has determined an estimate at the date of the consolidated financial statements that could have a significant 

impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities during the subsequent financial periods:

i.	� The evaluation of the Entity’s role as agent or principal in the real property leases.

	� Complex situations are assessed regarding property leases where both lessor and lessee may take de-

cisions about an identified asset, and the way in which each party benefits from such assets, in order 

to determine whether we are acting as an agent or principal, which affects the recognition of revenues, 

operating costs and expenses, and the decision to record assets from use rights and their respective 

payment obligation for the lease term.

ii.	 Vacation Club revenue recognition

	� Management makes judgments to decide when the performance obligations in the membership con-

tracts of Vacation Club are fulfilled, which impact the recognition of revenues.
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iii.	 The allowance for doubtful accounts and returns related with Vacation Club.

	� Estimates are used to determine the allowances for doubtful accounts, mainly considering collection ar-

rears according to the financing plans established. The allowance for Vacation Club returns is determined 

based on a percentage of probability that memberships will be canceled.

iv.	 The presentation of deferred revenues and other Kívac assets, current and long–term

	� Kivac points that are expected to be utilized during the following 12 months from the date of the consol-

idated statement of financial position are classified as current, considering the expected Kívac collection, 

which is the trigger that entitles the purchasers to use the hospitality service of this product.

v.	 Financial projections for asset impairment

	� If there is evidence of impairment, the Entity conducts a review to determine whether the carrying 

amount exceeds its recoverable value of its assets. During this analysis, it is necessary to make estimates 

regarding the value in use assigned to the buildings. Value–in–use calculations require the Entity to 

determine the future cash flows that should arise from the cash–generating units and an appropriate 

discount rate to calculate the present value. The Entity uses projections of cash flows, estimating the 

historical performance, the related market conditions, and determination of occupancy levels and rates.

vi.	 The future benefit of tax losses 

	� In order to determine whether these losses can be carried forward, the Entity projects earnings and 

taxable income that will be generated individually in the following years through a detailed business plan 

at the Business Unit level, which includes the sale of non–strategic assets, new investment projects, and 

the reorganization of entities within the group, among others, which would generate sufficient profits 

and provide possibilities to utilize tax losses before they expire.

vii.	 The effects of the contingencies faced by the Entity

	� The Entity is subject to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business, for which it assesses the 

likelihood of an unfavorable outcome, considering the status of the legal process at the date of the 

estimate and the opinion of legal advisers; said evaluations are periodically reviewed.

viii.	 The useful life and residual value of properties

	� The Entity uses independent appraisers to estimate the useful life and the residual value of its assets, 

which considers the useful life according to engineering studies and construction costs and components 

(foundations, electrical, hydro sanitary and air conditioning installations).

ix.	 Classification criteria of the Entity’s operating segments

	� The Entity classifies its businesses into four operating segments, based on internal reports prepared 

under a managerial approach.

x.	 The estimated amount of investments in securities other than cash equivalents

	� At the date of preparation of the consolidated statement of financial position, the Entity estimates 

the amount of its cash needs in the short term considering its operating cycle, the debt service of the 

following year, and the budget authorized by the Investment Committee for capital investments. The 

surplus is presented as Investments in securities, other than cash equivalents.

6.	 CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH

					     2018		  2017		  2016

Cash			  $	 89,808	 $	 74,594	 $	 65,171

Cash equivalents:			 

	 Overnight investments and restricted cash		  2,630,259		  1,299,221		  1,254,926

	 Other			   13,831		  9,769		  –

		  Total	 $	 2,733,898	 $	 1,383,584	 $	 1,320,097

As of December 31, 2018 the amount of cash equivalents includes $739,000 in restricted cash related to the 

net proceeds obtained from the sale of the hotel Fiesta Americana Condesa Cancún.

7.	 INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES

					     2018		  2017		  2016

Trading:			 

	 Overnight investments	 $	 –	 $	 –	 $	 450,000

8.	 ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

					     2018		  2017		  2016

Notes receivable from Vacation Club (a)	 $	 1,972,000	 $	 1,758,342	 $	 1,846,740

Other receivables from Vacation Club		  138,065		  155,686		  170,462

Clients and agencies (b)	 	 737,774		  824,303		  732,451

Officers and employees	 	 30,332		  62,729		  60,485

Others			   39,354		  71,668		  79,428

				    	 2,917,525		  2,872,728		  2,889,566

Less – Allowance for doubtful accounts		  (223,862)		  (227,361)		  (227,939)

				    $	 2,693,663	 $	 2,645,367	 $	 2,661,627
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(a).	 Notes receivable from Vacation Club 

	� The Vacation Club membership sales are normally recognized when at least a 10% deposit is received 

and five–year financing is granted for the remaining portion, with interest charged at market rates. The 

Entity anticipates that, after the implementation of certain business strategies, those accounts that are 

at most 11 months old may be reactivated; accounts aged greater than 11 months are normally cancelled. 

However, estimates of the reserve for doubtful accounts are recorded based on the entire portfolio.

	 Composition of the trading portfolio:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	

	 Maturity of notes receivable from  

	   Vacation Club–			 

		  Less than 90 days 	 $	 435,567	 $	 386,786	 $	 422,463

		  Between 91 and 330 days	 	 681,450		  603,833		  657,243

		  Between 331 and 365 days	 	 854,983		  767,723		  767,034

			 

				    $	 1,972,000	 $	 1,758,342	 $	 1,846,740

(b).	 Accounts receivable from clients and agencies

	� The average credit term related to amounts owed for hotel services is 19 days. The Entity does not 

charge interest on outstanding amounts. Normally, amounts owed within this portfolio are not aged 

significantly. During 2018, 2017 and 2016 the Entity identified and wrote–off $3,981, $10,390 and $88,719 

respectively, of the reserve for doubtful accounts, since it was determined that such amounts did not 

have possibility of being recovered.

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	

	 Clients and agencies–			 

		  Less than 90 days 	 $	 658,569	 $	 742,920	 $	 650,710

		  Over 90 days		  79,205		  81,383		  81,741

			 

				    $	 737,774	 $	 824,303	 $	 732,451

			 

	 Allowance for doubtful accounts–

		  Clients and agencies	 $	 (32,560)	 $	 (33,075)	 $	 (34,183)

		  Notes receivable from Vacation Club	 	 (191,302)		  (194,286)		  (193,756)

			 

				    $	 (223,862)	 $	 (227,361)	 $	 (227,939)

9.	 VACATION CLUB INVENTORY

					     2018		  2017		  2016

Vacation Club inventory	 $	 120,981	 $	 241,176	 $	 128,477

Villas and residential lots	 	 23,801		  23,803		  24,800

			 

				    $	 144,782	 $	 264,979	 $	 153,277

Vacation Club inventories recognized in cost of membership sales during the period in respect of continuing 

operations was $145,467, $133,641 and $48,919 at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

10.	 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT COMMITTED FOR SALE 

							       2018		  2017

Long–term:		

	 Property and equipment – Net		

	   Hotel Fiesta Americana Hacienda Galindo			   $	 113,671	 $	 129,797

	   Hotel Fiesta Americana Hermosillo			   	 109,446		  125,638

	   Hotel Ramada Plaza	      			   –		  52,279

		  Total long–term property and equipment  

		    committed for sale			   $	 223,117	 $	 307,714

		

		  Liabilities directly associated with property

  		    and equipment committed for sale			   $	 –	 $	 (6,330)

11. 	 LONG–TERM NOTES RECEIVABLE

The balance of the long–term portion of accounts receivable from sales of Vacation Club memberships is as 

follows:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

Long–term notes receivable:			 

	 Vacation Club memberships	 $	 3,003,919	 $	 2,508,342	 $	 1,945,498

	 Kívac		  	 425,882		  348,694		  366,920

				    	 3,429,801		  2,857,036		  2,312,418

Less:			 

	 Vacation Club returns’ reserve		  (134,572)		  (129,617)		  (109,778)

	 Allowance for Kívac’s doubtful accounts		  (76,065)		  (78,031)		  (81,143)

		  Total	 $	 3,219,164	 $	 2,649,388	 $	 2,121,497
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The maturities of the long–term Vacation Club memberships at December 31, 2018 are as follows:

To collect during		  Amount

	

2020			   $	 1,045,133

2021					    889,886

2022				    601,763

2023 onwards		  467,137

	

Total long–term notes receivable	 $	 3,003,919

The Entity performs an analysis of the sales of Vacation Club memberships to identify revenues whose trans-

actional status is associated with an element of uncertainty about uncollected memberships. In accordance 

with IFRS 9, an allowance for returns is recorded based on the Entity’s experience, calculated according to 

the expected impact of the future flows associated with the transaction.

12.	 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

					     2018		  2017		  2016

			 

Buildings		 $	 5,182,053	 $	 5,010,933	 $	 6,431,458

Furniture and equipment	 	 1,336,721		  1,439,118		  1,479,002

Computers	 	 290,196		  385,027		  422,053

Vehicles			   26,891		  31,937		  37,093 

					     6,835,861		  6,867,015		  8,369,606

			 

Less – Accumulated depreciation	 	 (3,320,459)		  (3,699,960)		  (4,469,963)

				    	 3,515,401		  3,167,055		  3,899,643

			 

Land			  	 1,250,778		  1,251,599		  2,184,719 

Construction in progress	 	 170,065		  182,524		  398,767

			 

				    $	 4,936,245	 $	 4,601,178	 $	 6,483,129

			   Furniture and			   Construction

	 Land	 Buildings	 equipment	 Computers	 Vehicles	 in progress	 Total

Cost:

Beginning balance 

  as of January 1, 2016	 $	 2,218,114	 $	6,603,406	 $	 1,227,058	 $	 417,977	 $	 30,132	 $	 544,876	 $	11,041,563

	 Additions and improvements		  821		  44,080		  129,640		  6,252		  4,806		  325,008		  510,607

	 Transfers of prepayments 

	   and other assets		  824		  20,814		  28,945		  274		  784		  (32,749)		  18,892

	 Transfers from construction 

	   in progress		  –		  289,854		  144,864		  –		  3,650		  (438,368)		  –

	 Disposals from improvements		  –		  (376,607)		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (376,607)

	 Disposals		  (35,040)		  (150,089)		  (51,505)		  (2,450)		  (2,279)		  –		  (241,363)

Balance as of December 31, 2016		  2,184,719		  6,431,458		  1,479,002		  422,053		  37,093		  398,767		 10,953,092

	 Additions and improvements		  –		  69,953		  54,296		  2,409		  2,019		  204,982		  333,659

	 Transfers of prepayments 

	   and other assets		  –		  132,286		  74,399		  1,453		  –		  520		  208,658

	 Transfers to assets classified 

	   as held for sale		  (800,570)		  (1,400,770)		  (173,795)		  (746)		  (799)		  –		 (2,376,680)

	 Transfers from construction 

	   in progress		  –		  305,968		  105,497		  807		  –		  (421,745)		  (9,473)

	 Disposals from improvements		  –		  (1,142)		  (51,034)		  (1,146)		  –		  –		  (53,322)

	 Disposals		  (132,550)		  (526,820)		  (49,247)		  (39,803)		  (6,376)		  –		  (754,796)

Balance as of December 31, 2017		  1,251,599		  5,010,933		  1,439,118		  385,027		  31,937		  182,524		  8,301,138

	 Additions and improvements		  –		  82,490		  136,932		  615		  3,384		  356,704		  580,125

	 Transfers of prepayments 

	   and other assets		  –		  (1,195)		  (39,163)		  (14,024)		  (2,120)		  84,924		  28,422

	 Transfers from construction 

	   in progress		  –		  223,830		  183,078		  1,472		  –		  (454,087)		  (45,707)

	 Disposals		  (821)		  (134,005)		  (383,244)		  (82,894)		  (6,310)		  –		  (607,274)

Balance as of December 31, 2018	 $	1,250,778	 $	 5,182,053	 $	 1,336,721	 $	 290,196	 $	 26,891	 $	 170,065	 $	8,256,704
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			   Furniture and			   Construction

	 Land	 Buildings	 equipment	 Computers	 Vehicles	 in progress	 Total

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Beginning balance 

  as of January 1, 2016	 $	 –	 $	 (3,197,979)	 $	 (753,794)	 $	(400,809)	 $	 (22,502)	 $	 –	 $	(4,375,084)

	 Depreciation expense		  –		  (216,631)		  (158,143)		  (9,268)		  (3,649)		  –		  (387,691)

	 Disposals of assets		  –		  77,130		  21,230		  1,756		  741		  –		  100,857

	 Remodeling derecognition		  –		  249,019		  –		  –		  –		  –		  249,019

	 Asset impairment 		  –		  (57,064)		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (57,064)

Balance as of December 31, 2016		  –		  (3,145,525)		  (890,707)		  (408,321)		  (25,410)		  –		 (4,469,963)

							     

	 Depreciation expense		  –		  (178,955)		  (184,735)		  (7,717)		  (3,765)		  –		  (375,172)

	 Disposals of assets		  –		  374,187		  50,895		  39,282		  5,083		  –		  469,447

	 Transfers to assets classified

	   as held for sale		  –		  615,378		  36,097		  464		  450		  –		  652,389

	 Remodeling derecognition		  –		  186		  22,486		  667		  –		  –		  23,339

Balance as of December 31, 2017		  –		  (2,334,729)		  (965,964)		  (375,625)		  (23,642)		  –		 (3,699,960)

	 Depreciation expense		  –		  (161,260)		  (168,337)		  (7,101)		  (3,242)		  –		  (339,940)

	 Disposals		  –		  102,640		  511,065		  98,185		  7,551		  –		  719,441

Balance as of December 31, 2018		  –		  (2,393,349)		  (623,236)		  (284,541)		  (19,333)		  –		 (3,320,459)

Total net investment at

  December 31, 2018	 $	1,250,778	 $	2,788,704	 $	 713,485	 $	 5,655	 $	 7,558	 $	 170,065	 $	4,936,245

As of December, 31, 2018 certain real estate property has been granted as guarantee of tax credits mentioned in 

Note 26 a, whose approximate amount is $289,902.

13.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND OTHER ASSETS

					     2018		  2017		  2016

Kívac’s sales commissions 	 $	 350,161	 $	 367,845	 $	 382,388

Expenditures for technology projects	 	 188,722	 	 160,497		  153,882

Guarantee deposits		  48,610		  45,037		  42,995

Development expenses and other		  28,216		  33,785		  61,919

Other assets	 	 105,750		  118,206		  –

				    $	 721,459	 $	 725,370	 $	 641,184

14.	 SUPPLIERS

The Entity has lines of credit contracted with Banco Santander (México), S.A., BBVA Bancomer, S.A., Banco 

Monex, S.A. and until 2016 with Banco Actinver, S.A. up to the amount of $100,000, $100,000, $70,000, and 

$35,000, respectively. The purpose of these credit lines is to provide financial factoring for the Entity´s sup-

pliers over a maximum payment term of 90 days. For each financial factoring transaction, interest is accrued 

at a fixed rate agreed between the suppliers and the financial institutions.

As of December 31, the amount of suppliers’ invoices which agreed to financial factoring is as follows:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

Banco Santander (México), S.A.	 $	 89,651	 $	 18,710	 $	 43,141 

BBVA Bancomer, S.A.	 	 22,103		  40,900		  72,173

Banco Monex, S.A.		  38,739		  9,730		  17,490

Banco Actinver, S.A.	 	 2,450		  –		  13,841

				    $	 152,943	 $	 69,340	 $	 146,645

15.	 LONG–TERM DEBT

a.	� Long–term debt is as follows:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	 US dollar–denominated:

	    “Senior Notes 2022”, 7.875% 

	      fixed rate	 $	 7,620,602	 $	 7,569,715	 $	 7,871,765

	 Mexican pesos:

	    Loan, 9.175% annual rate	 	 188,768		  210,000		  –	

	    Other loans, at variable rates 

	      average of 3.32%		  –		  –		  472

				    	 7,809,370		  7,779,715		  7,872,237

	 Less – Current portion		  (23,531)		  (11,232)		  (472)

	    Long–term debt	 $	 7,785,839	 $	 7,768,483	 $	 7,871,765
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	 The maturities of long–term debt at December 31, 2018, are as follows:

		  Thousands of US	 Thousands of  

	 Payable during	 dollars	 Mexican pesos

		

	 2020	  	 –	 $	 25,766

	 2021	  	 –		  28,214

	 2022		  –		  30,895

	 2023 and therefore	 US$	 400,000		  80,362

					     165,237

	 Equivalent in thousands of Mexican pesos				    8,038,397

	 Less – debt issuance costs				    (252,558)

		

				    $	 7,785,839

b.	� On June 22, 2017, a subsidiary of the Entity contracted a fiduciary warranty loan (based on the hotel’s 

collection through credit cards) with Banamex for the amount of $210,000 at an annual 9.175% interest 

rate, and maturity in 2024.

c.	�� On May 16, 2016 an additional issuance was made for US$50 million as part of the “Senior Notes 2022” 

program, accruing interest at an annual rate of 7.875%, maturing in 2022. With this additional issuance 

of “Senior Notes 2022”, in November 2016 the balance of US$38.3 million of the debt known as “Senior 

Notes 2017”, with maturity in 2017, was paid in advance. With the additional issuance, the “Senior Notes 

2022” program achieved the total amount of US$400 million.

d.	 �On June 30, 2015 the Entity completed a debt issuance for US$350 million in notes known as “Senior 

Notes 2022” through the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The intention was to substitute the issuance 

of US$310 million known as “Senior Notes 2017” held by the Entity as of December 31, 2014, for which 

US$1,060 was offered for each $1,000 of the previous issuance. As a result of the offering it was possible 

to tender US$271.7 million of the “Senior Notes 2017”, equivalent to 87.63% of principal. The “Senior Notes 

2022” accrue interest at the annual rate of 7.875%, with principal maturing on June 30, 2022. The interest 

is payable semiannually, beginning on December 30, 2015.

e.	� The most significant restrictions and obligations contained in debt agreements as of December 31, 2018, 

prohibit the Entity from:

	� •	 Incurring additional indebtedness

	 •	 Granting guarantees

	 •	 Making payments or restricted investments

	 •	 Selling assets over US$5 million

	 •	 Declaring dividends

	 •	 Making certain intercompany transactions

	 •	 Merging with other companies

	 As of December 31, 2018, restrictions and covenants have been complied with.

	� As discussed in Note 2b, the Entity sold the Fiesta Americana Condesa Cancún hotel. This transaction 

generates an obligation under “Senior Notes 2022”, which consists of investing the net surplus resources 

from the cash consideration received for the sale, within a term of 365 days after the sale. At the close 

of 2018 the Entity has invested $1,265,000 of the aforementioned surplus and presents a remainder of 

$739,000 in restricted cash as part of the cash equivalents balance, as mentioned in Note 6.

f.	� As of December 31, 2018, restrictions and covenants have been complied with. Below is detail of key 

financial items of the Entity and the subsidiary guarantors of the “Senior Notes 2022”:

	 2018	 2017	 2016

		  Total		  Total		  Total

	 Guarantors	 consolidated	 Guarantors	 consolidated	 Guarantors	 consolidated

Total revenues	 $	 7,461,479	 $	 7,910,374	 $	 7,976,647	 $	 8,471,990	 $	 7,240,156	 $	 7,734,349

Depreciation, amortization 

  and impairment		  357,350		  402,097		  379,944		  430,635		  536,923		  595,350

Lease expense  		  534,976		  534,976		  475,590		  475,590		  445,590		  445,125

Consolidated (loss) income		  936,551		  932,099		  (483,778)		  (472,594)		  (749,612)		  (697,179)

	 Total assets	 	 16,226,043		  17,170,281		  15,225,169		  16,345,057		  13,448,531 		  14,886,997

	 Total liabilities	 $	13,629,730	 $	13,982,482	 $	13,405,981	 $	13,922,105	 $	 11,251,967 	 $	11,958,720

16.	 INCOME TAXES 

The Entity is subject to ISR. Under the ISR Law the rate for 2018, 2017 and 2016 was 30% and will continue at 

30% thereafter. Due to the abrogation of the ISR Law effective until December 31, 2013, the tax consolidation 

regime was eliminated, therefore, the Entity and its subsidiaries are required to pay the deferred tax deter-

mined at that date during the following five fiscal years starting from 2014, as shown below.

While the ISR Law repealed the tax consolidation regime, an option was established, which allows groups 

of entities to determine a joint calculation of ISR (tax integration regime). The new regime allows groups of 

consolidated entities that share common direct or indirect ownership of more than 80%, certain benefits 

in the tax payment (when both profit and loss entities are included within the Entity in the same period), 

which can be deferred over three years and paid, plus interest and inflation, at the filing date of the tax return 

corresponding to the tax year following the completion of the aforementioned three–year period.

The Entity and its subsidiaries elected to join the new scheme, for which reason income taxes were calculated 

based on the aforementioned regime in 2018, 2017 and 2016.
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Pursuant to Transitory Article 9, section XV, subsection d) of the 2014 Tax Law, given that as of December 

31, 2013, the Entity was considered to be a tax holding company and was subject to the payment scheme 

contained in Article 4, Section VI of the transitory provisions of the ISR Law published in the Federal Official 

Gazette on December 7, 2009, or Article 70–A of the 2014 ISR Law which was repealed, it must continue to 

pay the tax that it deferred under the tax consolidation scheme in 2007 and previous years based on the 

aforementioned provisions, until such payment is concluded.

Taxation in the United States of America – The subsidiary that operated in that country was subject to income 

taxes at a rate of 35% until December 31, 2017, and beginning 2018 the corporate rate was reduced to 21%.

Taxable income in Mexico – The main differences affecting the taxable income of the Entity were the recog-

nition of the effects of inflation, equity in earnings of associates, amortization of deferred credits and benefit 

of prior year tax losses.

a.	 �Income tax expense (benefit) recognized in profit or loss:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	 Current tax –			 

		  Current ISR	 $	 14,244	 $	 49,726	 $	 212,713

		  ISR previous years		  97,874		  2,169,834		  97,902

					     112,118		  2,219,560		  310,615

	 Deferred ISR benefit	 	 479,867		  (956,953)		  (484,964)

	 Total income tax (benefit)	 $	 591,985	 $	 1,262,607	 $	 (174,349)

b.	� Income taxes and the reconciliation of the statutory and effective ISR rates, expressed as a percentage 

of income (loss) before income tax, is:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	 Statutory rate		  30%		  30%		  30%

	 Less:

		  Effects of permanent 

		    differences and tax effects of inflation		  8%		  (18)%		  (2)%

		  Effect of tax loss carryforward benefit		  –		  (137)%		  1%

		  Reserve of individual tax loss carryforward benefit	 –		  10%		  (9)%

		  ISR, previous years		  –		  275%		  –

	 Effective rate		  38%		  160%		  20%

c.	 The main items originating the balance of the deferred ISR asset (liability) at December 31, are:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	 Notes receivable	 $	 (1,092,966)	 $	 (947,686)	 $	 (825,990)

	 Allowance for doubtful accounts		  127,614		  128,996		  120,533

	 Real estate inventory		  5,491		  (28,589)		  (45,735)

	 Property and equipment		  50,489		  (158,635)		  (220,183)

	 Intangible assets and other assets		  (118,115)		  (49,367)		  (19,346)

	 Reserves and deferred income		  794,070		  768,714		  640,859

	 Tax loss carryforwards		  1,556,900		  2,077,692		  2,611,588

	 Tax loss carryforwards reserve		  (43,787)		  (49,685)		  (1,101,718)

	 Tax benefits (Conacyt)		  –		  8,172		  21,932

	 Unrealized exchange rate fluctuation		  (134,141)		  (134,141)		  (134,141)

	 SIBRA’s tax effect		  –		  –		  (389,281)

	 Deferred ISR asset	 $	 1,145,555	 $	 1,615,471	 $	 658,518

d.	� The benefit of restated tax loss carryforwards for which the deferred ISR asset has been partially recog-

nized, can be recovered subject to certain conditions. At December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the tax loss 

carryforwards amounted to $5,189,666, $6,925,639 and $8,705,291, respectively.

 

e.	 Tax loss carryforwards

	 Expiration dates and restated amounts of tax loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2018 are:

	 Year			   Amount

	

	 2019		 $	 4,887

	 2020		  7,797

	 2021			  1,410,057

	 2022			  1,873

	 2023			  606,983

	 2024		  1,086,513

	 2025			  1,961,213

	 2026		  46,820

	 2027			  40,510

	 2028		  23,013

	

				    $	 5,189,666
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f.	 Tax credits

	� As a result of several agreements reached with SAT in April 2017, the Entity recognized an ISR liability 

that is being paid according to the following maturities: 	

	 Year			  Amount	

	 2019		 $	 335,716

	 2020		  335,716

	 2021			  335,716

	 2022			  335,716

	 2023			  335,716

					     1,678,580

	 Less – current portion of income tax payable		  (335,717)

				    $	 1,342,863

17.	 LONG–TERM ACCRUED LIABILITIES

					     2018		  2017		  2016

Employee benefits	 $	 146,613	 $	 148,094	 $	 137,453

Other accrued liabilities	 	 212,445		  212,445		  212,445

				    $	 359,058	 $	 360,539	 $	 349,898

18.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The net period cost for obligations under the pension plan and related seniority premiums amounted to 

$29,776, $32,915 and $6,802 as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Other disclosures required 

by accounting rules are not considered material.

19.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Entity is exposed to market risks (including interest rate risks and exchange rate risk), credit risk and 

liquidity risk, which are all managed centrally. 

a.	 Capital risk management

	� The Entity manages its capital to ensure that it will continue as a going concern, while maximizing 

the return to stockholders through the optimization of debt and equity structure. During 2018 overall 

strategy of the Entity has not been changed compared to 2017 and 2016.

	� The Entity’s Management reviews its capital structure when it presents its financial projections as part of 

the business plan to the Entity’s Board of Directors and stockholders. As part of this review, the Board 

of Directors considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Entity 

analyzes the capital structure for each project independently, in order to minimize the risk for the Entity 

and optimize stockholder returns.

	 �The Entity’s Management, on a monthly basis, reviews the net debt and accrued interest and its relation 

to the EBITDA. This review is carried out when the Entity’s financial projections are presented as part of 

the business plan to the Board of Directors and stockholders of the Entity.

	� The Entity is incorporated as a S.A.B. de C.V. in accordance with the Mexican Securities Law and the 

General Corporate Law.

	 Debt index 

	 The debt index at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	 Debt  (i)	 $	 7,809,370	 $	 7,779,715	 $	 7,872,237

	 Cash, banks and investments in securities	 	 2,733,898		  1,383,584		  1,770,097

		  Net debt 		  5,075,472		  6,396,131		  6,102,140

	 Stockholders’ equity (ii)	 $	 3,187,799	 $	 2,422,952	 $	 2,928,277

		  Net debt to equity index		  1.59		  2.64		  2.08	

	 (i)	� Debt is defined as short and long–term borrowings in national and foreign currency, as described in 

Note 15.

	 (ii)	�� Stockholders’ equity includes all capital stock and reserves that are managed as capital.

b.	 Categories of financial instruments

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	 Financial assets

		  Cash	 $	 89,808	 $	 74,594	 $	 65,171

		  Cash equivalents	 	 2,644,090		  1,308,990		  1,704,926

		  Account and notes receivable 	 	 5,912,827		  5,294,755		  4,783,124

		  Financial assets held for sale 		  –		  4,312		  6,814

	 Financial liabilities

		  Amortized cost		  8,945,739		  8,882,349		  9,049,365

c.	� Market risk

	� The activities performed by the Entity expose it mainly to financial risks due to variations in the ex-

change rates. Periodically, depending on prevailing market conditions, the Entity subscribes financial 

derivatives to handle its exposure to exchange risk, including foreign currency forward contracts to cover 

the exchange risk derived from liabilities in foreign currency with short–term maturities.

	� There were no changes in the Entity’s exposure to market risks or in the way that these risks are man-

aged and valued.

.
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d.	 Foreign currency risk management 

	� The Entity believes that the risk is material because as of December 31, 2018, 97% of its debt is denomi-

nated in US dollars. Considering the net monetary position in US dollars as of December 31, 2018, a 10% 

appreciation (or appreciation) of the Mexican peso against the US dollar would cause an exchange loss 

or (gain) in results and in the stockholders’ equity of the Entity of approximately $497,442.

	 The current exchange rates in Mexican pesos are as follows:

	 December 31,	 March 4

					     2018		  2017		  2016		  2019

	 Mexican pesos per US dollar	 $	 19.6829	 $	 19.7354	 $	 20.6640	 $	 19.2607

e.	 Interest rate risk management

	� The Entity is exposed to low market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates, because its debt at 

December 31, 2018 accrue interest at a fixed rates. Therefore, an increase in interest rates does not result 

in a significant risk to the Entity. As of December 31, 2018, the “Senior Notes 2022” issued in US dollars 

represent practically 100% of the debt of the Entity, and accrue interest at a fixed rate.

f.	 Credit risk management 

	� Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparties will default on their contractual obligations, resulting 

in a loss for the Entity. The Entity’s principal credit risk stems from cash and cash equivalents, invest-

ments in securities and accounts and notes receivable.

	� The Entity has a policy of maintaining cash and cash equivalents only with recognized, prestigious 

institutions with a high credit rating. Additionally, investments are limited to instruments with high 

credit quality. In the case of accounts and notes receivable, the credit risk mainly stems from the Vaca-

tion Club portfolio; otherwise, the respective guarantees are obtained in accordance with established 

credit policies.

	� The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the amounts shown in the consolidated state-

ment of financial position.

g.	 Liquidity risk management

	� The Entity does not have liquidity risk with respect to its current debt. In 2016 the Entity liquidated 

debt maturing in the short term with the resources obtained through the program known as “Senior 

Notes 2022”.

	� The principal sources of liquidity of the Entity have been cash flows from operating activities generated 

primarily from operating income from its owned and leased hotels, management revenues, the sale and 

financing of Vacation Club memberships and proceeds from asset sales.

	 �The Entity´s Management is responsible for liquidity, and has established appropriate policies to miti-

gate this risk through the monitoring of working capital, which allows Management to manage funding 

requirements in the short, medium and long–terms, maintaining sufficient cash reserves, available credit 

lines, continuously monitoring cash flows, both projected and actual and reconciling the maturity profiles 

of financial assets and liabilities.

	� The following tables detail the Entity’s contractual maturities for its financial liabilities, considering the 

payment periods agreed. The table was designed based on the undiscounted nominal cash flows of 

the financial liabilities according to the date that the Entity must make the payments. The contractual 

maturity is based on the minimum date on which the Entity must make the payments.

	 Weighted

	 average

	 effective				    1 and

	 interest rate	 3 months	 6 months	 1 year	 3 years	 3 + years	 Total

As of December 31, 2018 

Debt		 7.875%	 $	 14,571	 $	 666,513	 $	 692,640	 $	 1,383,993	 $	 8,327,342	 $	 11,085,059

Suppliers			   427,790		  –		  –		  –		  –		  427,790

Other liabilities and

  accrued expenses			   718,815		  –		  –		  –		  –		  718,815

	 Total		  $	 1,161,176	 $	 666,513	 $	 692,640	 $	 1,383,993	 $	 8,327,342	 $	12,231,663

As of December 31, 2017

Debt		 7.875%	 $	 4,817	 $	 331,772	 $	 347,656	 $	 1,389,429	 $	 9,056,176	 $	 11,129,850

Suppliers			   436,100		  –		  –		  –		  –		  436,100

Other liabilities and 

  accrued expenses			   794,630		  –		  –		  –		  –		  794,630

	 Total		  $	 1,235,547	 $	 331,772	 $	 347,656	 $	 1,389,429	 $	 9,056,176	 $	12,360,580

As of December 31, 2016

Debt		 7.875%	 $	 –	 $	 325,458	 $	 325,930	 $	 1,301,832	 $	10,543,806	 $	 12,497,026

Suppliers	 –		  497,753		  –		  –		  –		  –		  497,753

Other liabilities and 

  accrued expenses	 –		  674,897		  –		  –		  –		  –		  674,897

	 Total		  $	 1,172,650	 $	 325,458	 $	 325,930	 $	 1,301,832	 $	10,543,806	 $	 13,669,676

	� The amounts included as Debt are fixed interest rate debt.

	� The Entity expects to fulfill its obligations with the cash flows from operations and any resources received 

from the maturity of financial assets. As of December 31, 2016 the Entity had access to a committed line 

of credit of $200,000, which was not renewed as of December 31, 2017.
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h.	 Fair value of financial instruments:

	 �Valuation techniques and assumptions applied to determine fair value – The fair value of the financial 

assets and liabilities is determined as follows:

	� •	� The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions, and negotiat-

ed in active liquid markets, are determined based on the prices quoted in the market.

	 •	� The fair value of the other assets and liabilities is determined in accordance with generally accepted 

price determination models, which are based on the analysis of discounted cash flows.

	� Fair value of the financial assets and liabilities – The Entity’s Management consider that the carrying 

amounts of the current financial assets (including investments in securities) and financial liabilities rec-

ognized at amortized cost in the consolidated statement of financial position, approximate their fair 

values since they are short–term.

	� As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the fair value of the Vacation Club long–term receivables is $3,400,067 

and $2,966,140, which is greater than its carrying amount. As of December 31, 2016 the fair value of those 

receivables is greater than their carrying amount since they generate interest at higher than market rates.

	 The fair value of long–term debt is as follows:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	 Thousands of US dollars:			 

		  Senior Notes 2022	 US$	 330,960	 US$	 344,743	 US$	 354,581	

	 Thousands of Mexican pesos

		  Banamex	 $	 151,728	 $	 167,885	 $	 –	

	� At December 31, 2018, a portion of the Entity’s revenues, generally around 27%, has been directly or 

indirectly denominated in US dollars. This is due to the fact that room rates at beach hotels (primarily 

Cancun and Los Cabos) maintain rates in US dollars. Furthermore, a portion of the sales and financing of 

Vacation Club memberships have been historically denominated in US dollars.

	� Given that part of the Entity’s revenues is directly or indirectly denominated in US dollars and to minimize 

its exposure to interest rates denominated in Mexican pesos, the Entity’s policy has been to maintain 

a significant portion of its debt in US dollars. This has been achieved through contracting debt in US 

dollars when allowed by market conditions.

20.	 STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

a.	 As of December 31, stockholders’ equity is comprised of the following shares without par value:

				    Number of shares

				    2018, 2017 and 2016

	 Authorized capital		  512,737,588

	 Less –

		  Repurchase of shares	 	 (16,855,600)

					     495,881,988

b.	� As of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the share capital is composed solely of Series “A” free subscrip-

tion shares.

c.	� A Stockholders’ Special Meeting held on April 12, 2018, approved the merger by absorption of the sub-

sidiary Servicios Gerenciales Posadas, S.A. de C.V.

d.	� A Stockholders’ Ordinary General Meeting also held on April 12, 2018 declared a dividend of $0.40 

Mexican cents per share, for a total of $198,353, from the 2013 Net Tax Income account, and was paid on 

April 24, 2018.

e.	� The Stockholders’ Ordinary General Meeting held on April 12, 2018 also adopted a resolution to keep the 

maximum amount of resources for the share repurchase reserve at $535,000.

f.	� The Stockholders’ Ordinary General Meeting of a subsidiary held on August 14, 2017 approved a payment 

of dividends for $19,188, paid in the same year to the non–controlling interest.

g.	� At the Extraordinary General Stockholders’ Meeting held on March 22, 2017, the stockholders approved 

$535,000 as the maximum amount of resources that may be allocated to the purchase of own shares, 

with the limitations established by the Securities’ Market Law.

h.	� As of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the legal reserve fund, presented within retained earnings, 

amounts to $99,187 (nominal value) and represents 20% of the nominal capital. This reserve fund may 

not be distributed to stockholders except in the form of dividends.

i.	� Stockholders’ equity, except for restated paid–in capital and tax retained earnings, will be subject to 

ISR payable by the Entity at the rate in effect upon distribution. Any tax paid on such distribution may 

be credited against annual and estimated ISR of the year in which the tax on dividends is paid and the 

following two fiscal years. 

	� Dividends paid from profits generated from January 1, 2014 to residents in Mexico and residents abroad, 

could be excisable of an additional profit income (ISR) of to 10%, which must be retained by the Entity.
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�The following are the accumulated earnings that could be subject to withholding up to 10% ISR on distributed 

dividends:

		  Amount that could	 Amount not

		  be subject to	  subject to 

	 Year	 withholding	 withholding

		

Retained earnings through December 31, 2013	 $	  –	 $	 3,726,899

Profit for the year up to 2018	 $	 999,842	 $	 –	

21.	 BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS IN FOREIGN CURRENCY

Significant monetary position in foreign currencies as of December 31, is:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

Thousands of US dollars:

	 Current:

		  Monetary assets		  99,738		  53,692		  46,071

		  Monetary liabilities		  (3,646)		  (7,859)		  (6,051)

					     96,092		  45,833		  40,020
 

	 Long–term:			 

		  Monetary assets		  51,180	 	 44,851		  42,422

		  Monetary liabilities		  (400,000)		  (400,000)		  (400,023)

					     (348,820)		  (355,149)		  (357,601)
			 

Net liability position		  (252,728)		  (309,316)		  (317,581)

Equivalent in thousands of Mexican pesos	 $	 (4,974,423)	 $	 (6,104,475)	 $	 (6,562,494)

Foreign currency transactions entered by entities located in Mexico are mainly income from hotel operations, 

certain sales of Vacation Club memberships and interest expense.

22.	 REVENUE, COST OF SALES AND OPERATING EXPENSES

a.	 Revenue:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	 Hotel operation 	 $	 3,403,837	 $	 4,347,086	 $	 4,063,087

	 Vacation Club		  3,148,692		  2,982,385		  2,605,078

	 Management fee, brand and other expenses		  1,357,845 	 	 1,142,519		  1,066,184

			 

				    $	 7,910,374 	 $	 8,471,990 	 $	 7,734,349

b.	 Cost of sales:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	 Hotel operation 	 $	 1,585,444 	 $	 1,959,700	 $	 1,807,240

	 Vacation Club		  2,219,158		  2,101,521		  1,748,656

	 Management fee, brand and other expenses		  1,173,073		  953,286		  846,424

			 

				    $	 4,977,675 	 $	 5,014,507	 $	 4,402,320

c.	 Administrative expenses:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	 Salaries, employee benefits and other	 $	 444,409	 $	 453,755	 $	 441,519

	 PTU		  	 194,000		  86,052	   	 –	

	 Electricity		  181,443		  198,418		  180,259

	 Maintenance 		  94,527		  112,459		  110,375

	 Professional fees		  39,976		  66,743		  73,478

	 Credit card commissions		  50,855		  47,207		  48,336

	 Property taxes and duties		  29,379		  41,511		  38,396

	 Office rentals		  30,233		  27,273		  26,570

	 Services and supplies		  20,689		  17,919		  15,787

	 Insurance and bonds		  13,736		  12,868		  16,438

	 Equipment leasing	 	 14,792		  8,759		  9,483

	 Doubtful accounts 		  8,378		  12,466		  6,800

	 Others		  29,452		  19,638		  14,863

				    $	 1,151,869	 $	 1,105,068	 $	 982,304

d.	 Sale and development expenses:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

	 Marketing and publicity	 $	 142,335	 $	 185,373	 $	 162,862

	 Salaries, employee benefits and other	 	 63,899		  74,318		  75,363

	 Travel expenses	 	 1,953		  7,363		  7,157

	 Subscription fees	 	 83		  146		  2,234

	 Others		  3,722		  5,108		  4,627

				    $	 211,992	 $	 272,308	 $	 252,243

e.	� Other (revenues) expenses, net – As discussed in Note 1, the Entity has focused its activity on holding 

strategic assets. As part of this strategy, the Entity has sold and is currently selling hotel properties and 

other non–strategic assets. The caption Other (revenues) expenses, net, includes $1,345,750, $103,017 

and $108,374, in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, for such item.
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23.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Employee benefits granted to key Management personnel (and/or directors) of the Entity, were as follows:

					     2018		  2017		  2016

Direct, short and long–term benefits	 $	 113,297	 $	 108,965	 $	 132,759

Termination benefits	 $	 –	 $ 	 –	 $	 40,002

24.	 INFORMATION BY BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Information condensed by operating segments is presented according to Management’s criteria. Given that 

Management evaluates the performance of each segment based on the EBITDA, the Entity does not segre-

gate the amount of depreciation and amortization between different segments. Also, as the Entity centrally 

manages the segments’ cash flows to cover investment and financing needs, therefore it does not separately 

report cash flows by segment. The main long–term assets and related investment cash flows made by the 

Hotel operation and Vacation Club are those presented in the consolidated statements of financial position 

and consolidated statements of cash flows.

a.	� Hotel operation –  Revenues generated by this segment are represented by the rental of hotel rooms, 

the sale of food, beverages and related services (laundry, telephones, spa, etc.) to guests. The expenses 

incurred by the segment are related to the payroll of the personnel that attend guests in hotels, the 

cost of food and beverages and hotel operating expenses, including sales and administrative personnel, 

office expenses, electricity, insurance and property taxes. In the case of leased hotels, an additional rent 

expense is generated.

b.	� Vacation Club – Revenues generated by this segment include the sale of memberships, interest income 

generated by financed sales, annual membership fees and income from the effective use of the “Kivac” 

program. Costs and expenses include the value of real property sold under this regime, marketing ex-

penses incurred for prospective clients, collection expenses, payroll of personnel located at the sites 

where Vacation Club operates, including electricity and insurance, the payroll and office expenses of 

sales and administrative personnel, together with the cost of hotel exchanges.

c.	� Hotel management, brand and other – Revenues generated by this segment include fees billed to hotels 

under the terms of hotel operating contracts; brand use and franchises, as well as billing of different 

centralized services. The costs and expenses incurred by this segment primarily involve payroll of the 

personnel that supervise hotel operations, the cost of the reservation service, centralized accounting, 

purchasing and technology service expenses and the recovery of Global Distribution System costs.

	 2018

				    Hotel

				    management,		  Other

		  Hotel	 Vacation	 brand and		  corporate		  Total

		  operation	 Club	 other	 Total	 expenses	 Eliminations	 consolidated

Statement of comprehensive income (loss):

Total revenues	 $	3,431,078	 $	 3,148,692	 $	1,568,240	 $	 8,148,010	 $	 –	 $	 (237,636)	 $	 7,910,374

Cost and general expenses	 	 2,634,209		  2,271,927		  1,627,205		  6,533,341		  –		  (237,636)		  6,295,705

Corporate expenses		  –		  –		  –		  –		  379,439		  –		  379,439

Depreciation, and amortization  		  –		  –		  –		  –		  402,097		  –		  402,097

Other expenses		  –		  –		  –		  –		  1,190,106 		  –		  1,190,106

	 Operating income (loss)	 $	 796,869	 $	 876,765	 $	 (58,965)	 $	 1,614,669	 $	(1,971,642)	 $	 –		  2,023,239 

	 Financial expenses, net		  482,953

	 Equity in associate		  15,000

	 Income before income taxes	 $	1,555,286

	 2017

				    Hotel

				    management,	 Sale of		  Other

		  Hotel	 Vacation	 brand and	 non–strategic		  corporate

		  operation	 Club	 other	 properties	 Total	 expenses	 Eliminations

Statement of comprehensive income (loss):

Total revenues	 $	 4,374,035	 $	 2,982,385	 $	 1,441,910	 $	8,798,330	 $	 –	 $	 (326,340)	 $	 8,471,990

Cost and general expenses		  3,129,415		  2,201,065		  1,398,096		  6,728,576		  –		  (313,604)		  6,414,972

Corporate expenses		  –		  –		  –		  –		  452,682		  (12,648)		  440,034

Depreciation, and amortization  		  –		  –		  –		  –		  430,635		  –		  430,635

Other expenses		  –		  –		  –		  –		  35,201		  88		  35,289

	 Operating income (loss)	 $	 1,244,620	 $	 781,320	 $	 43,814	 $	2,069,754	 $	 (848,116)	 $	 –		  1,221,638

							     

	 Financial expenses, net		  (431,625)

					   

	 Income before income taxes	 $	 790,013
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	 2016

				    Hotel
				    management,	 Sale of		  Other
		  Hotel	 Vacation	 brand and	 non–strategic		  corporate
		  operation	 Club	 other	 properties	 Total	 expenses	 Eliminations

Statement of comprehensive income (loss):

Total revenues	 $	4,092,983	 $	 2,605,078	 $	 1,616,772	 $	 8,314,833 	 $	 –	 $	 (580,484)	 $	 7,734,349

Cost and general expenses		  3,169,313		  1,841,633		  1,306,787		  6,317,733 		  –		  (561,611)		  5,756,122

Corporate expenses		  –		  –		  –		  –		  338,166		  (18,744)		  319,422

Depreciation, and amortization 		  –		  –		  –		  –		  528,196		  –		  528,196

Asset impairment		  –		  –		  –		  –		  57,064		  –		  57,064

Derecognition by remodeling of assets	 –		  –		  –		  –		  19,215 		  (129)		  19,086

	 Operating income (loss)	 $	 923,670	 $	 763,445	 $	 309,985	 $	 1,997,100 	 $	 (942,641)	 $	 –		  1,054,459

	 Financial expenses, net		  (1,924,708)
				  

	 Loss before income taxes	 $	 (870,249)

25.	 COMMITMENTS

a.	� As of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Entity has entered into long–term contracts to lease hotel 

and corporate properties, which generally have terms of 10 years. Lease payments are calculated based 

on percentages applied to income generated from hotel operations, varying between 12% and 25%. 

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, lease expense was $534,976, $475,590 and 

$445,125, respectively. The minimum lease estimated for the following years is shown below:

	 Years		  Amount

	

	 2019		 $	 586,382 

	 2020		  638,923 

	 2021			  649,203 

	 2022			  673,643 

b.	� As of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Entity has entered into lease contracts for computer equip-

ment and other, which usually have a term of three years. Lease payments are based on the value of the 

leased equipment and vary in function with the requirements of the Entity’s operational departments. For 

the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, lease expense amounted to $104,331, $105,974 and 

$80,594, respectively. The estimated rental payments for the following years is shown below:

	 Years		  Amount

	

	 2019		 $	 87,775

	 2020		  63,415

	 2021			  18,298

c.	 As explained in Note 4 n, as of January 1, 2019, the Entity adopted the new IFRS 16, Leases.

26.	CONTINGENCIES

a.	� The Entity faces a tax lawsuit for the year 2006, for an unpaid liability assessed by the SAT’s International 

Tax Inspection Office in the amount of $767,248, for which at the date of issuance of the consolidated fi-

nancial statements, it is not possible to determine a result for the Entity. The tax authorities have alleged 

non–payment of ISR, for which reason the Entity filed a motion for reconsideration with the SAT, which 

has yet to be resolved. The Entity has provided a guarantee for the restated tax liability in the amount 

of $883,800 that consists of a bond of $593,898 and a mortgage guarantee of $289,902. According to 

the Entity’s Management and its external advisors in this matter, there are sufficient legal arguments to 

obtain a favorable result from such lawsuit.

	� As of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Entity has established a reserve to cover contingencies, 

which is recorded under the long–term liability heading “Accrued liabilities” in the consolidated state-

ments of financial position.

b.	� During 2003 a former subsidiary of the Entity, named Posadas de Argentina, S.A. signed a contract to 

operate a hotel in the city of Mendoza, Argentina. The counterparty undertook to build a hotel within two 

years from the contract signing date. However, the counterparty rescinded the contract, for this reason 

Posadas de Argentina, S.A. filed a provisional claim to safeguard its rights.

	� At the time of the sale of the South American operation to Accor, S.A. in October 2012, the Entity 

was uncertain about the success of the current lawsuit, and undertook with Accor, S.A. to assume any 

costs arising therefrom. Once the lawsuit was over, the Argentinean courts acquitted the defendant 

and ordered Accor, S.A. to pay costs, which the Entity was obligated to cover. The best estimate of 

the amount of legal costs is $44,565 (US$2.265 million) which the Entity recorded in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income (loss) as a discontinued operation at the close of 2018, net of 

the deferred ISR effect. The Entity has already paid US$563,000 and the rest will be disbursed during 

2019, and is presented as a liability under Other accounts payable in the consolidated statement of 

financial position.

c.	� The Entity is engaged in a series of legal actions derived from the regular course of its operations. Given 

their current status and the difficulty of determining a probable contingent amount, no reserves have 

been established in this regard.

27.	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 20, 2019 the Entity made a bid to purchase up to $515,000 of its Senior Notes 2022, at the 

exchange rate for that day ($19.25 per one US dollar), amount equivalent to US$26,750. The bid expires on 

March 20, 2019, and will be settled two days later, to purchase the Bonds at par value, plus accrued interest 

not paid at the settlement date, using the surplus of the net cash consideration from the sale on February 20, 

2018, of the Fiesta Americana Condesa Cancún hotel.



Under the terms of the Senior Notes 2022, the Entity must make a bid to purchase the Bonds after 365 days 

of having received the sale price, which was February 21, 2018, for any amount the Entity did not invest or use 

for the payment of guaranteed liabilities or preferential debt during such period.

28.	 AUTHORIZATION TO ISSUE THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were approved in General Stock-

holders Meetings held on April 12, 2018 and March 23, 2017, respectively. The accompanying consolidated fi-

nancial statements as of December 31, 2018 were authorized to be issued on February 20, 2019, by Ing. Arturo 

Martínez del Campo Saucedo, Corporate Chief Financial Officer and the Audit Committee; consequently, they 

do not reflect events after this date, and are subject to the approval of the Ordinary Stockholders Meeting of 

the Entity, who may modify them in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Market Law. 

* * * * * *
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